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Selected Financial Data
(Dollars in Thousands, except share data) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

At September 30,
Total assets $ 217,710 $ 211,781 $ 200,211 $ 153,725 $ 124,017
Loans receivable, net 137,183 115,847 102,064 67,250 61,119
Investment securities - available-for-sale 516 6,844 7,917 5,919 0
Investment securities — held-to-maturity 9,724 7,766 25,970 30,481 29,767
Mortgage-backed securities — available-for-sale 20,145 27,352 44,013 32,894 12,810
Mortgage-backed securities ~ held-to-maturity 30,591 35,879 4,279 5,807 10,941
Goodwill 2,170 2,170 2,313 0 0
Deposits 107,469 115,611 101,620 87,540 86,644
FHLB Advances 86,312 74,468 78,959 45,058 14,946
Stockholders' equity 19,282 17,914 16,210 18,419 20,384
Equity to assets ratio 8.86 % 8.46 % 8.10 % 11.98 % 16.44 %
Common shares outstanding 1,162,320 1,162,320 1,162,320 1,294,420 1,464,056
Book value per share 16.59 i5.41 13.95 14.23 13.92
Tangible book value per share 14.66 13.54 11.95 N/A N/A
For The Year Ended September 30,
Net interest income $ 6,694 $ 4,332 3,436 3,231 3 3,298
Provision for loan losses 365 70 28 0 0
Other operating income 1,342 866 361 358 361
Operating ¢xpenses 4518 3,988 3,275 3,141 2,768
Net income 2,069 700 296 298 561
Base eamings per share 1.84 0.63 .26 23 39
Diluted earnings per share 1.81 0.63 .26 22 .38
Selected Financial Ratios
Return on average assets 97 % 0.34 % 0.18 % 021 % 046 %
Return on average equity 11.13 4.10 1.77 1.51 272
Interest rate spread (average) 3.04 1.90 1.60 1.81 2.00
Net interest margin 3.27 222 2.13 2.41 2.83
Ratio of average interest-eamning assets to average

interest-bearing liabilities 107.04 106.16 110.40 113.80 119.58
Operating expenses to average assets 2.11 1.95 1.95 226 231
Dividend payout ratio 11.24 33.16 80.82 94.51 45.82
Efficiency ratio 64.21 82.44 87.20 91.21 78.96
Net interest income to operating expenses 1.40 x 1.09 x 1.05 x 1.03 x 1.20 x
Asset Quality Ratios
Non-performing assets to total assets 75 % 0.74 % 0.52 % 0.50 % 0.18 %
Non-performing loans to total loans receivable .90 1.14 0.94 .14 0.37
Allowance for loan losses to non-performing loans 60.87 58.48 110.33 35.16 102.19
Allowance for loan losses to total loans .55 0.66 1.04 0.40 0.38
Allowance for loan losses to total assets .35 0.36 0.53 0.18 0.18
Regulatory Capital Ratics {Association only)
Tangible capital ratio 7.70 % 7.10 % 6.80 % 11.30 % 1495 %
Tier 1 capital ratio 7.70 7.10 6.80 11.30 14.95
Total risk-based capital ratio 14.50 14.40 16.20 27.94 3829
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To Our Shareholders

On behalf of your Board of Directors, we are pleased to present to you the annual report of East Texas Financial Services, Inc., the

holding company for First Federal Savings and Loan Association of Tyler.

We are pleased to report that net income for the year was $2.1 million, an increase of $1.4 million or 195.6% over the $700,000
reported for 2001. We reported basic and diluted earnings per share of $1.84 and $1.81, respectively, for the current year, compared
to $.63 for both in 2001.

The increase in net income was the result of several factors.

Our continued emphasis on the origination of consumer, commercial, and non-residential loans helped increase the size of our loan
portfolio at yields higher than our average yield on interest-earning assets. If not for the increase in these loan products, we would
have seen a more substantial decline in our average yield on interest-eamning assets for the year. At September 30, 2002, consumer
loans totaled $36.4 million, an increase of $15.6 million, or approximately 75% from September 30, 2001. Nonresidential real
estate loans increased to $17.2 million at September 30, 2002 from $11.2 million at September 30, 2001, and home equity loans
increased to $10.8 million at September 30, 2002 from $8.3 million at September 30, 2001. Consumer, commercial, and

nonresidential loans now account for approximately 41% of the total loan portfolio, compared to only 21% two years ago.

Our overall cost of deposits and borrowings decreased substantially during the year ended September 30, 2002. As the general level
of interest rates continued to decline during the year, certificate of deposit and borrowing rates decreased. The net result was a $3.0

million drop in total interest expense to $6.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2002 from $9.8 million for 2001.

Also, as interest rates moved lower, many customers elected to refinance their mortgage loans. With the historically low levels of
mortgage rates, we elected to sell most of the fixed rate loans originated over the past year into the secondary market. The result was

an increase in loan fee income and gains on the sale of loans.

If interest rates remain low, we expect to continue to see a significant level of refinance activity in our one- to four-family loan
portfolio. That, coupled with additional cash flow from our mortgage-backed securities, also due to refinancing activity, will

challenge our ability to keep excess cash invested at profitable levels. In order to increase net interest income, we will need to offset




East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

this decline in our one- to four-family loan portfolio with consumer and nonresidential loans. To the extent we have to reinvest

excess cash flow into securities, our overall level of net interest income may decline in 2003.
All things considered, we are pleased with the direction of the Company and look forward to 2003 with anticipation. Our challenges
will be to continue to monitor and manage the credit risk associated with the increased consumer and nonresidential lending, and to

monitor and manage interest rate risk.

We encourage you to attend our annual meeting of stockholders. The meeting will be held at 2:00 p.m. on January 29, 2003 at the

offices of the Company, 1200 South Beckham Avenue, Tyler, Texas.

Sincerely,

| Rock Tt W G

ck W. Flock Gerald W. Free
Chairman of the Vice-Chairman, President

and Chief Executive Officer

Board of Directors
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Glossary

Book Value Per Share
Indicates the amount of stockholders’ equity attributable to each outstanding share of common stock. It is determined by dividing
total stockholders’ equity by the total number of common shares outstanding as of a date.

Dividend Payout Ratio
Total dividends paid divided by net income.

Earnings Per Share
Indicates the amount of net income attributable to each share of common stock. It is determined by dividing net income for the
period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the same period.

Efficiency Ratio
A measure of operating efficiency determined by dividing total operating expenses by the sum of net interest income after
provisions for loan losses and non-interest income, excluding net gains or losses on sale of assets.

Equity to Asset Ratio
Total stockholders’ equity divided by total assets.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

A measure of the sensitivity of the Company’s net interest income to changes in market interest rates. It is determined by analyzing
the difference between the amount of interest-earning assets maturing or repricing within a given time period and the amount of
interest-bearing liabilities maturing or repricing within that same time period.

Interest Rate Spread
The difference between the average yield earned on the Company’s interest-earning assets and the average rate paid on its interest-
bearing liabilities.

Net Interest Income
The dollar difference between the interest earned on the Company’s interest-earning assets and the interest paid on its interest-
bearing liabilities.

Net Interest Margin
Net interest income as a percentage of average interest-earning assets.

Net Portfolio Value
The present value of future expected cash flows on interest-earning assets less the present value of future expected cash flows on
interest-bearing liabilities.

Non-Performing Assets
Loans on which the Company has discontinued accruing interest or are delinquent more than ninety days and still accruing interest,
and foreclosed assets.

Return On Average Assets
A measure of profitability determined by dividing net income by average assets.

Return On Average Stockholders’ Equity
A measure of profitability determined by dividing net income by average stockholders equity.
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Management’s Briscussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and
Operating Resulis

Resulits of Operations

Forward-Looking Information

Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed in the Annual Report may be deemed to be forward-
looking statements according to the provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and
uncertainties, including statements that are other than statements of historical facts, and the other risks detailed from time to time in
the Company’s SEC reports, including the report on Form 10-KSB, for the year ended September 30, 2002. Readers are advised
that various factors, including, but not limited to — changes in law, regulations or generally accepted accounting principles; East
Texas’s competitive position within its market area; increasing consotidation within the banking industry; unforeseen changes in
interest rates; any unforeseen downturns in the local, regional or national economies — could cause East Texas’ actual resﬁlts or
circumstances for future periods to differ materially from those indicated or projected. These forward-looking statements represent

the Company’s judgment as of the date of this Report. The Company disclaims, however, any intent or obligation to update these

forward-looking statements.
General

The principal business of the Company consists of attracting retail deposits from the general public and-investing those funds in
one-to four-family residential mortgage loans, commercial real estate, one-to four-family construction, multi-family, consumer and
commercial loans. The Company also purchases mortgage-backed securities and invests in U.S. Government and agency

obligations and other permissible investments.

The Company’s revenues are derived primarily from interest earned on loans, mortgage-backed securities and investments and, to a
lesser extent, from service charges and loan origination fees, gains on sales of loans and mortgage-backed securities, and loan

servicing fee income.

The Company currently offers a variety of deposit accounts having a wide range of interest rates and terms. The Company’s
deposits include personal and business checking accounts, passbook and money market accounts and certificate accounts with terms

ranging from one month to five years. The Company solicits deposits solely within its primary market area.
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Net Income

—
f
v

2002 and 2001 Comparison

Net income totaled $2.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2002, an increase of $1.4 million or 195.6% over the $700,000
reported for the year ended September 30, 2001. Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share were reported as $1.84 and
$1.81, respectively, for the year ended September 30, 2002. Basic and diluted earnings per share were both $.63 for the year ended
September 30, 2001. The increase in net income was the result of a $2.1 million increase in net interest income after provision for
loan losses and a $476,0000 increase in noninterest income, which were partially offset by a $530,000 increase in noninterest

expense and a $644,000 increase in income tax expense.

For the year ended September 30, 2002, the Company reported a return on average assets of approximately .97%, compared to
.34% for the year ended September 30, 2001. Return on average stockholders' equity was approximately 11.13% for the year ended
September 30, 2002, compared to 4.10% for the previous year.

2001 and 2000 Comparison

Net income was reported as $700,000 or $.63 in basic earnings per share for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, compared to
$296,000 or $.26 in basic earnings per share for the year ended September 30, 2000. Diluted earnings per share also totaled $.63
and $.26 per share for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000 respectively. The increase in net income was the result
of an $854,000 increase in net interest income after provisions for loan losses and a $505,000 increase in noninterest income, which

were partially offset by a $714,000 increase in noninterest expense and a $242,000 increase in income tax expense.

For the year ended September 30, 2001, the Company reported a return on average assets of approximately .34%, compared to
.18% for the year ended September 30, 2000. Return on average stockholders' equity was approximately 4.10% for the year ended
September 30, 2001, compared to 1.77% for the year ended September 30, 2000.
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The following table presents, for the periods indicated, the total dollar amount of interest income from average interest-earning
assets and the resultant yields, as well as the interest expense on average interest-bearing liabilities, expressed both in dollars and

rates.

Net Interest Income Analysis

Year Ended September 30,

2002 2001 2000

Interest Interest Interest
Average Eamned/ Yield/ Average Eamed/ Yield/ Average Eamed/ Yield/
Balance Paid Rate Balance Paid Rate Balance Paid Rate

(Dollars in Thousands)
Interest-earning assets:

Loans receivable $ 130,338 % 10,010 768% $ 107,930% 8,672 803% $ 76,941 $ 5,980 777 %
Mortgage-backed securities 55,621 2,570 4.62 55,615 3,662 6.58 43,012 3,115 7.25
Investment securities 14,176 743 5.24 27,422 1,635 5.96 38,484 2,325 6.04
FHLB stock 4,435 133 3.00 4,228 211 4.99 3,015 242 8.01
Total interest-earning assets (1) $ 204,570% 13,456 658% § 1951958 14,180 726% $ 161,452 % 11,662 7.22 %

Interest-bearing liabilities:

Non-Interest Checking 3 3,381 % 0 0.00% 3§ 3,001 $ 0 0.00% §% 2,929 $ 0 0.00 %
Interest Checking 15,576 324 2.08 14,798 527 3.56 12,832 512 3.99
Savings accounts 4,035 59 1.47 3,589 103 2.87 2,768 88 3.18
Certificate accounts 85,890 3,671 4.27 88,564 5,277 5.96 68,984 3,815 5.54
Borrowings 82,234 2,708 3.29 73,912 3,941 5.33 58,736 3,811 6.49
Total interest-bearing liabilities $ 191,116 $ 6,762 354% § 183,864 % 9,848 536 % $ 146,249 % 8,226 5.62 %

Net interest income $ 6,694 $_ 433 $_ 3436

Net interest rate spread 3.04 % 1.90 % 1.60 %

Net earning assets $ 13454 $ 11,331 $ 15,203

Net interest margin .
327 % 222 % 213 %

Average interest-earning assets to
Average interest-bearing liabilities 107.04 % 106.16 % 110.40 %

(1) Calculated net of deferred loan fees, loan discounts, loans in process, loss reserves and premiums or discounts.
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The following table presents, for the periods indicated, the total dollar amount of interest income from average interest-earning
assets and the resultant yields, as well as the interest expense on average interest-bearing liabilities, expressed both in dollars and

rates.

Net Interest Income Analysis

Year Ended September 30,

2002 2001 2000

Interest Interest Interest
Average Eamed/ Yield/ Average Earned/ Yield/ Average Eamed/ Yield/
Balance Paid Rate Balance Paid Rate Balance Paid Rate

(Dollars in Thousands)
Interest-earning assets:

Loans receivable $ 130,338 % 10,010 768 % $ 107,930% 8,672 803% $ 76941% 5,980 777 %
Mortgage-backed securities 55,621 2,570 4,62 55,615 3,662 6.58 43,012 | 3,115 7.25
[nvestment securities 14,176 743 5.24 27,422 1,635 5.96 38,484 2,325 6.04
FHLB stock 4,435 133 3.00 4,228 211 4.99 3,015 242 8.01
Total interest-earning assets (1) 3 204,570 % 13,456 6.58% $ 195195% 14,180 726 % $ 161,452 % 11,662 7.22 %

Interest-bearing liabilities:

Non-Interest Checking $ - 3381% 0 000% § 3,00t 8 0 000% §$ 2,929 % 0 0.00 %
Interest Checking 15,576 324 2.08 14,798 527 3.56 12,832 512 3.99
Savings accounts 4,035 59 1.47 3,589 103 287 2,768 88 318
Certificate accounts 85,890 3,671 4.27 88,564 5,277 5.96 68,984 3,815 5.54
Borrowings 82,234 2,708 3.29 73,912 3,941 5.33 58,736 3,811 6.49
Total interest-bearing liabilities $ 19,1168 6,762 354% $ 183,864 % 9,848 536 % $ 146,249 % 8,226 5.62 %

Net interest income $ 6,694 $ 4,332 $ 3,436

Net interest rate spread 3.04 % 1.90 % 1.60 %

Net earning assets $ 13,454 $ 11,331 $ 15,203

Net interest margin
327 % 222 % 213 %

Average interest-eamning assets to
Average interest-bearing liabilities 107.04 % 106.16 % 110.40 %

(1) Calculated net of deferred loan fees, loan discounts, loans in process, loss reserves and premiums or discounts.
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The decline in interest income was partially offset by an increase in average interest earning assets. This increase was primarily the
result of a $22.4 million or 20.8% increase in average loans receivable balances from $107.9 million for the year ended September
30, 2001 to $130.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2002. The growth in average loans receivable balances was due to a
$15.0 million increase in the consumer and commercial loan portfolios from $26.9 million at September 30, 2001 to $41.8 million
at September 30, 2002. Consumer and commercial loans totaled $41.8 million or approximately 29.3% of the total loan portfolio,
compared to $26.9 million or 22.2% at September 30, 2001 and $12.9 million or 12.2% at September 30, 2000. Construction loans
increased by $2.9 million and nonresidential real estate loans increased by $6.0 million during the year ended September 30, 2002.
See - "Financial Condition - Loans Receivable” and Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion and

presentation of the change in the loan portfolio during the year ended September 30, 2002.

The Company's ability to increase or maintain current levels of total interest income will be dependent upon several factors. The
general level of interest rates will have an effect on total interest income. An increase in the general level of interest rates should
cause total interest income to rise as new loans and investments are made at higher interest rates. An increase in total interest
income will also be dependent upon the Company's success in continuing to increase the size of its consumer and nonresidential real
estate loan portfolios, which are generally funded at higher yields than the current average yield on interest-earning assets. The
Company expects to continue to focus on the origination of consumer, commercial, nonresidential real estate and home equity loans
during the next fiscal year. At current interest rate levels, the Company anticipates that the majority of one-to four-family loans
‘originated will be sold into the secondary market which will have the effect of reducing the balance in such loans and, therefore, the
projected interest income on the portfolio. In addition, if interest rates remain at current levels, the Company expects to continue to
see the current level of refinancing and loan modification requests on one- to four-family loans to continue, which will also have the

effect of reducing total interest income.

The Company’s emphasis on the origination of consumer, commercial, and non residential loans involves a greater measure of
credit risk than mortgage loans or investment securities. Although such loans are generally originated at higher interest rates, they
typically have higher delinquency rates and default rated. If the Company is unable to manage the increased credit risk associated

with these types of loans, and non-performing loans increase, total interest income may not increase.

2001 and 2000 Comparison

Total interest income was $14.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2001, an increase of $2.5 million or 21.6% from the

$11.7 million reported for the year ended September 30, 2000.

The increase in interest income was primarily the result of a $33.7 million or 20.9% increase in average interest-earning assets from
$161.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2000 to $195.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2001. The average yield
on interest-earning assets increased slightly from 7.22% for the year ended September 30, 2000 to 7.26% for the year ended

September 30, 2001. The increase in average interest-earning assets was due to the additional assets acquired in the Gilmer merger

10
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in June 2000, as well as continued growth in the Company's consumer, commercial, nonresidential, and single-family interim

construction lending portfolios.

The increase in average interest-éarning assets was primarily the result of a $31.0 million or 40.3% increase in average loans
receivable balances from $76.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2000 to $107.9 million for the year ended September 30,
2001. The growth in average loans receivable balances was due to a $14.0 million or 109.1% increase in the consumer and
commercial loan portfolios as the Company continued to focus on the origination of these types of loans. At September 30, 2001,
consumer and commercial loans totaled $26.9 million or approximately 22.3% of the total loan portfolio, compared to $12.9 million
or 12.2% at September 30, 2000 and 35.1 million or 7.1% at September 30, 1999. Also, construction loans increased by $2.8
million and nonresidential real estate loans increased by $1.6 million during the year ended September 30, 2001. In addition, the
average yield on the loans receivable portfolio increased to 8.03% for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001 from 7.77% for the
year ended September 30, 2000, which had the effect of increasing total interest income for the year. The increase in yield on the
loan portfolio was, despite an overall decline in market rates of interest during the year, directly attributable to the additional
consumer and nonresidential real estate loans which carry a higher rate of interest than one- to four- family residential loans, added

to the portfolio during the year.

The increase in average interest-earning assets was also partially the result of a $12.6 million increase in average mortgage-backed
securities from $43.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2000 to $55.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2001.
Balances in mortgage-backed securities increased during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001 as the Company directed excess
cash flow from maturing investments and loans into this portfolio. In addition, approximately $23.5 million in callable debt of the
Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas (“FHLB™) and the Federal National Mortgage Association {(“FNMA™) was called during the
fiscal year. The Company elected to reinvest the proceeds from the securities that were called primarily into fixed rate and term

mortgage-backed securities.

Interest Expense

The Company’s interest expense is dependent upon the pricing and volume of its interest-bearing liabilities, comprised primarily of
certificates of deposit and borrowed funds and, to a lesser extent, savings accounts, NOW accounts and money market accounts.
The level of interest expense depends upon the composition, pricing and dollar amount of the Company’s interest-bearing liabilities,

competition for deposits and the current level of market interest rates.

2002 and 2001 Comparison
Total interest expense was $6.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2002, compared to $9.8 million for the year ended
September 30, 2001, a $3.1 million or 31.3% decrease.

11




East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

The decrease in interest expense was primarily attributable to a decline in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities from 5.36%
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001 to 3.54% for the year ended September 30, 2002. The decrease in the average cost of
interest-bearing liabilities more than offset the effect of an increase in average interest-bearing liabilities from $183.9 million for the

year ended September 30, 2001 to $191.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2002.

The decrease in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities was primarily due to the overall decline in the general level of interest
rates during 2002. Most of the Company's certificate of deposits have terms of less than two years in length. As those deposits have
matured and re-priced over the last two years, the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities decreased. In addition, the Company
held a large portfolio of short-term FHLB advances during‘2001 and 2002. The borrowing rate on these advances decreased

significantly as the overall level of interest rates declined.

The increase in average interest-bearing liabilities was due to an increase in average borrowings from $73.9 million for the year
ended September 30, 2001 to $82.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2002. The Company elected to pay less competitive
rates on maturing certificate of deposit accounts during 2002 and utilized its borrowing privilege at the FHLB to obtain lower cost
advances. The result was an increase in borrowings and a decrease in certificate of deposit balances during the year ended

September 30, 2002 and a lower overall cost of funds.

The Company's ability to decrease or limit increases in total interest expense will be dependent upon the overall level of interest
rates. The Company currently has approximately $35 million in short term borrowings from the FHLB. Short-term interest rates,
such as federal funds and U.S. Treasury bonds, have the greatest effect on the rates on such borrowings. An increase in market rates
will have the effect of increasing the Company's total interest expense. A decline in interest rates will have the opposite effect. The
Company could make the decision to extend the term on all or a portion of the short-term borrowings and lock the lower rates in for

a longer term.

2601 and 2000 Comparison
Total interest expense was $9.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2001, compared to $8.2 million for the year ended
September 30, 2000, a $1.6 million or 19.7% increase.

The increase was primarily attributable to a $37.6 million increase in average interest-bearing liabilities from $146.2 million for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2000 to $183.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2001. The increase in total interest
expense was partially offset by a decline in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities from 5.62% for the fiscal year ended

September 30, 2000 to 5.36% for the year ended September 30, 2001.

The increase in average interest-bearing liabilities was due to an increase in average certificate of deposit balances from $69.0
million for the year ended September 30, 2000 to $88.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2001. Also, average borrowings
increased to $73.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2001 from $58.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. The

12
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increase in average certificate of deposit balances was partly due to the additional deposit balances gained in the Gilmer merger in
June 2000. In addition, the certificate of deposit growth was the result of increases in these accounts during the first and second
quarters of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, prior to the overall decline in the level of interest rates. During that period the
Company paid more competitive interest rates on short term certificates of deposit balances. As interest rates began to decline in
2001, the Company elected to offer less competitive rates on longer term deposits than its competition. Instead, the Company began
to borrow short-term funds from the FHLB to fund liquidity needs and benefited from the overall decline in interest rates on short
term funding.

Net Interest Imcome

Net interest income is the Company’s principal source of earnings, and is directly affected by the relative level, composition and
pricing of interest sensitive assets and liabilities. These factors are, in turn, affected by current economic conditions and the overall

level of interest rates.

2002 and 2001 Comparison

Net interest income after provision for loan losses totaled $6.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2002, a $2.1 million or
48.5% increase over the $4.3 million reported for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001. As a percentage of average interest-
earning assets, the $6.3 million in net interest income was approximately 3.09% for the year ended September 30, 2002, compared

to 2.18% for the year ended September 30, 2001.

The increase in net interest income was primarily the result of the decrease in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities during
the year as previously discussed. To a lesser extent, the increase in average loan balances, particularly in consumer, nonresidential
real estate, and interim construction loans on one-to four-family loans helped increase net interest income as these loans were made
at higher interest rates than were available for one-to four-family residential mortgage loans. See -"Interest Rate Sensitivity" for a
discussion of the effect the changes to the Company's mix of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities might have on net

interest income.

The Company's ability to continue to increase net interest income will be primarily dependent upon its ability to increase the level of
short-term higher yielding consumer, commercial, and nonresidential loan portfolios. Also, net interest income will be dependent
upon the success of the Company in monitoring the cost of its interest-bearing liabilities. If interest rates begin to increase in fiscal
2003, the short term borrowings currently held by the Company will increase in cost rapidly. The Company intends to re-deploy a
portion of the short-term borrowings into long-term borrowings to lock the lower rates for a longer period of time if interest rates
increase during 2003. In addition, net interest income is dependent upon the differences in short- and long- term interest rates. Net

interest income will generally decline as the difference narrows and will generally increase as the difference widens.
1

13
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2001 and 2000 Comparison

Net interest income before provisions for loan losses totaled $4.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2001, an $896,000 or
26.1% increase over the $3.4 million reported for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000. As a percentage of average interest-
earning assets, the $4.3 million in net interest income was approximately 2.22% for the year ended September 30, 2001, compared
to 2.13% for the year ended September 30, 2000.

The increase in net interest income in fiscal 2001 was primarily the result of the additional growth in interest-earning assets during
the year. To a lesser extent, the increase in net interest income was the result of the decline in the Company's average cost of funds
and the increase in the average yield on interest-earning assets. In addition to the Company's decision to change the mix of interest-
earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities as previously discussed, net interest income was enhanced by the change in the overall
level of interest rates during the year and by the change in the difference between longer-term and short-term rates. As the Federal
Reserve began lowering the short-term Federal Funds target rate and the Federal Funds Discount rate in early 2001, the Company
benefited from the rapid decline in short term rates as the Company's cost of borrowed funds declined. In addition, the Company
elected to reinvest a large portion of its cash flow into fixed rate loans and investments as interest rates declined. The overall effect
was an improvement in the Company's net interest income. However, the Company's overall sensitivity measurement to possible

changes in interest rates increased as a result of the strategy. See -"Interest Rate Sensitivity".

Provisions for Loan Losses

The Company’s provisions for loan losses are determined by management’s periodic assessment of the adequacy of the allowance
for loan losses. Management’s assessment of the desired level of the allowance for loan losses is affected by factors such as the
composition of the loan portfolio and the risk characteristics of various classes of loans, the current level of non-performing loans,

economic conditions and real estate values, as well as current regulatory trends.

2002 and 2001 Comparison

Provisions for loan losses totaled $365,000 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002, compared to $70,000 for the year ended
September 30, 2001. The increase 1n the provisions for loan losses was primarily the result of additional reserves that were
established for losses on the Company's consumer loan portfolio. The Company experienced losses in its indirect auto lending
program during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002. The losses were charged against the allowance for loan losses and the
additional provisions for loan losses were made to replenish the allowance. The losses were due to the sale of repossessed
automobiles. A “soft” market for used automobiles contributed to the losses. In addition, the Company, in an effort to achieve

projected lending levels, made some loans at higher than usual loan-to-value limits. The result was, at repossession, a significant
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difference in the value of the automobile compared to the loan balance. The Company has substantially decreased the volume of
indirect automobile loans by decreasing the loan-to-value limits. Although the Company believes that theses steps will help reduce
losses on repossessed automobiles, the Company can not predict the level of losses that may be incurred on indirect automobile

loans already on the books.

Non-performing assets were $1.6 million at September 30, 2002, unchanged from the $1.6 million at September 30, 2001. Non-
performing assets to total assets were .75% at September 30, 2002, compared to .74% at September 30, 2001. Non-performing
loans to total loans receivable were .90% at September 30, 2002, compared to 1.14% at September 30, 2001. The Company's
allowance for loan losses as a percentage of loans receivable equaled .55% at September 30, 2002, compared to .66% at September
30, 2001 while the allowance for loan losses as a percentage of non-performing loans was 60.87% at September 30, 2002 and

58.48% at September 30, 2001. See - "Asset Quality".

2001 and 2000 Comparison

Provisions for loan losses totaled $70,000 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, compared to $28,000 for the year ended
September 30, 2000. The increase in the provisions for loan losses was primarily the result of additional reserves that were
established for losses on the Company's checking account portfolio. Since 2000, the Company has offered "free checking" and
“checking with overdraft privilege,” designed to increase fee income from insufficient check charges. The program has been
successful with gains in noninterest income resulting from the program. The Company experienced losses in the program during the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, primarily as a result of losses on two accounts. The losses were charged against the

allowance for loan losses and the additional provisions for loan losses were made to replenish the allowance.

Non-performing assets were $1.6 million at September 30, 2001, compared to $1.0 million at September 30, 2000. Non-performing
assets to total assets were .74% at September 30, 2001, compared to .52% at September 30, 2000. Non-performing loans to total
loans receivable were 1.14% at September 30, 2001, compared to .94% at September 30, 2000. The Company's allowance for loan
losses as a percentage of loans receivable equaled .66% at September 30, 2001, compared to 1.04% at September 30, 2000 while
the allowance for loan losses as a percentage of non-performing loans was 58.48% at September 30, 2001 and 110.33% at
September 30, 2000.
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Neoninterest Income

Noninterest income consists primarily of fee income from service charges, origination fees and servicing fees on the Company’s

loan portfolio, gains or lesses on the sale of loans and securities, and fees from transaction accounts.

2002 and 2001 Comparison
Noninterest income was $1.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2002, an increase of $476,000 or 54.9% over the $866,000
reported for the year ended September 30, 2001.

The increase in noninterest income was primarily the resuit of a $207,000 increase in gains on the sale of loans. As interest rates
remained at low levels during 2002, customers elected to refinance their mortgage loans. The Company elected to sell the majority
of these loans into the secondary market due to the interest rate risk associated with fixed rate mortgage loans. The net result was
additional fee income from the sale of loans into the secondary market. Also, loan origination and commitment fees increased by
$53,000. The increase was due to the additional volume cof one- to four-family loans originated during the fiscal year ended

September 30, 2002, compared to the year ended September 30, 2001.

Gains on the sale of available-for-sale securities totaled $326,000 for the year ended September 30, 2002, compared to $188,000 for
the year ended September 30, 2001. During the year, the Company made the decision to sell $6.0 million or approximately 50% of
its corporate debt portfolio. The Company elected to sell these securities to provide liquidity to fund commercial real estate loan
originations and to reduce its exposure to possible downgrades in the debt ratings of the corporate debt securities as the national

economy declined.

Customer service fees increased by $42,000 from $274,000 for the year ended September 30, 2001 to $316,000 for the year ended
September 30, 2002. The increase was due to additional fee income from the Company's checking account portfolio, primarily

insufficient check charges and monthly service charges.

2001 and 2000 Comparison _
Noninterest income was $866,000 for the year ended September 30, 2001, an increase of $505,000 or 140.1% over the $361,000
reported for the year ended September 30, 2000.

The increase in noninterest income was the result of a $166,000 or 153.3% increase in customer service fees, primarily as a result of
the full implementation of the "free checking" and "checking with overdraft privilege" programs in 2001 and the additional

transaction accounts acquired in the Gilmer acquisition.

Also, net gains on the sale of loans and loan origination and commitment fees increased by $98,000. The increase in gains on sales

of loans resulted from the Company's decision to begin to sell more of its one-to four-family loan production into the secondary
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The increase in noninterest expenses was the resuit of a $415,000 increase in compensation and benefits expense from $2.3 million
for the year ended September 30, 2001 to $2.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2002, due to an increase in salaries and
additional expenses associated with the Company's defined benefit pension plan. Approximately two thirds of the assets in the
pension plan trust account are held in equity mutual funds. The poor performance of the equity markets over the last two years has
reduced the balance in assets held in the trust account while expenses associated with additional employees increased funding
requirements and general compensation increases has caused the benefit obligation under the plan to increase. See Note 13 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Company's defined benefit pension plan.

Expenses associated with foreclosed or repossessed assets increased $161,000. The increase was primarily related to expenses the
Company incurred in repossessing and disposing of automobiles in its indirect automobile loan program. See “Provision for Loan

Losses.”

Amortization of goodwill acquired in the Gilmer merger totaled $157,000 for the year ended September 30, 2001, compared to
none for the year ended September 30, 2002. As of Cctober 1, 2001, the Company was no longer required to systematically
amortize goodwill. Goodwill will remain on the Company's balance sheet as a non-amortizing asset but the Company is required to
test the amount of goodwill annually for possible impairment. If the value of the goodwill vis less than the carrying value, the
Company may be required to charge-off the difference through operations at that time. The Company had been expensing
approximately $13,000 per month in goodwill amortization. The Company has completed its initial and first annual test for

impairment. No goodwill impairment was found as a result of the tests.

Total noninterest expense as a percentage of average total assets was 2.11% for the year ended September 30, 2002, compared to
1.95% in 2001. The Company's efficiency ratio was approximately 64.21% for the year ended September 30, 2002, compared to
82.4% for the year ended September 30, 2001.

2001 and 2000 Comparison

Total noninterest expense was $4.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2001, an increase of $714,000 or 21.8% over the $3.3
million reported for the year ended September 30, 2000. The increase in noninterest expenses was primarily the result of the
expense of operating the Gilmer office for a year. Noninterest expense for the year ended September 30, 2000 included only three

months of expenses from the Gilmer office.

Other noninterest expense increased by $380,000 from $701,000 for the year ended September 30, 2000 to $1.1 million for the year
ended September 30, 2001. The increase was primarily attributable to expenses associated with additional data processing, audit,

regulatory, and other miscellaneous expenses associated with the acquisition of the Gilmer office.

Compensation and benefits expense totaled $2.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2001, an increase of $188,000 from the

$2.1 million reported for the year ended September 30, 2000. The increase was mostly the result of a full year of expenses
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associated with the Gilmer merger and, to a lesser extent, additional personnel added to handle the additional work related to the

Company's expanded consumer lending.

Amortization of goodwill acquired in the Gilmer merger totaled $157,000 for the year ended September 30, 2001; a $116,000
increase over the $41,000 reported for the year ended September 30, 2000. The increase in expense was the result of a fuil year of

amortization for the current fiscal year, as compared to only three months in the year ended September 30, 2000.

Occupancy and equipment expenses also increased by approximately $52,000, primarily as a result of additional expenses

associated with the Gilmer acquisition.

Total noninterest expense as a percentage of average total assets was 1.95% for the year ended September 30, 2001, unchanged
from 2000. The Company's efficiency ratio was approximately 82.4% for the year ended September 30,2001, compared to 87.2%
for the year ended September 30, 2000.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense is comprised of federal income tax. The Company does not incur any state or local income tax liability.

2002 and 2001 Comparison
Income tax expense totaled $1.1 million or approximately 34.4% of pre-tax income for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002,
compared to $440,000 or 38.6% of pre-tax income for the year ended September 30, 2001. The increase was primarily due to the

additional pre-tax income earned during the year.

2001 and 2000 Comparison
Income tax expense totaled $440,000 or approximately 38.6% of pre-tax income for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001,
compared to $198,000 or 40.1% of pre-tax income for the year ended September 30, 2000. The increase was primarily due to the

additional pre-tax income earned during the year.

Financial Condition

Total assets were reported as $217.7 million at September 30, 2002, an increase of $5.9 million from the $211.8 million reported at
September 30, 2001. The increase in total assets was primarily the result of the growth in the Company's loans receivable portfolio,

which was funded with growth in additional borrowings.
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Cash and cash equivalents and federal funds sold totaled $6.0 million at September 30, 2002, compared to $4.9 million at
September 30, 2001.

Investment securities available-for-sale totaled $516,000 at September 30, 2002 compared to $6.8 million at September 30, 2001.
At September 30, 2002, this portfolio was comprised of municipal bonds, primarily issued by Upshur County, Texas, where the
Company's Gilmer office is located. During the year ended, September 30, 2002, the Company elected to sell the corporate debt
portion of the portfolio totaling approximately $6.0 million. The Company made this decision partly because of possible
downgrades in the ratings on the bonds due to the declining economy. In addition, the Company anticipated the need for additicnal
liquidity to fund three large commercial real estate loans being originated at that time. The Company recorded a gain of $326,000

on the sale of the securities.

Investment securities held-to-maturity was reported at $9.7 million at September 30, 2002 compared to $7.8 million on September
30, 2001. At September 30, 2002, the portfolio was comprised of approximately $6.2 million in corporate debt securities and

approximately $2.5 million in U.S. Agency notes and bonds.

Mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale decreased by $7.2 million from $27.4 million at September 30, 2001 to $20.1 million
at September 30, 2002. The decrease was due to $15.6 million in principal repayments received on the securities during the year,

which was partially offset by $8.6 million in additional purchases.

Mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity totaled $30.6 million at September 30, 2002 compared to $35.9 million at September
30, 2001. Historically, this portfolio was comprised of adjustable rate pass-through mortgage-backed securities. The balance had
been declining as prepayments on the portfolio increased. During 2002, the Company elected to take cash flow from the called
securities in its investment securities held-to-maturity portfolio and invest it in short term fixed rate and adjustable rate
collateralized mortgage obligations. Based on estimates of prepayments at the time of purchase, the obligations had estimated
average lives that generally did not exceed 10 years. Prepayments on these collateralized mortgage obligations will be dependent

upon the general level of interest rates. Lower interest rates will increase principal payments on the securities.

Loans receivable totaled $137.2 million at September 30, 2002, an increase of $21.3 million over the $115.8 million reported at
September 30, 2001. The increase in the portfolio was primarily the result of the increase in consumer, commercial, and
nonresidential loans originated by the Company during 2002. The Company continued to focus on building its consumer loan
portfolio through the origination of direct loans and through indirect lending relationships with several automobile dealers in the
Company's market. At September 30, 2002, the consumer loan portfolio totaled approximately $36.4 million, an increase of $15.6
million from the $20.8 million reported at September 30, 2001. At September 30, 2002, the consumer loan portfolio included
approximately $29.0 million in automobile loans, which were evenly divided between new and used autos. Out of the $29.0 million
in automobile loans, approximately $13.0 million of the balance was fiom loans originated on an indirect basis through various

automobile dealers in the Company's market.
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Nonresidential real estate loans totaled $17.2 million at September 30, 2002, an increase of $6.0 million over the $11.2 million
reported at September 30, 2001. The Company expects to continue its efforts to originate small to medium size commercial real

estate loans in its local market. Most of these loans have fixed rates and terms, with final maturity dates of not longer than 180

months.

Interim loans for the construction of one-to four-family residences increased by $2.9 million from $5.7 million at September 30,
2001 to $8.6 million at September 30, 2002. The increase was the result of the Company's increased efforts to originate this type of

loan and the continued strength of the economy in the Company's market area.

Goodwill was reported as $2.2 million at September 30, 2002, unchanged from the $2.2 million reported at September 30, 2001.
Beginning October 1, 2001, the Company was no longer required to systematically amortize goodwill. Goodwill will remain on the
Company's balance sheet as a non-amortizing asset but the Company is required to test the amount of goodwill at least annually for
possible impairment. If the estimate of the value of the goodwill is less than the carrying value, the Company will be required to
charge-off the difference through operations at that time. The Company performed its initial test of goodwill impairment as of
September 30, 2001 and performed its first annual test for impairment as of September 30, 2002. No impairment of goodwill was

found due to either test.

Total deposits were $107.5 million at September 30, 2002, a decrease of $8.1 million over the $115.6 million reported at September
30, 2001. The decrease was directly attributable to a decline in certificate of deposit accounts, which decreased from $93.3 million
at September 30, 2001 to $82.4 million at September 30, 2002. The decrease in certificate of deposit accounts was the result of the
Company's decision to pay less competitive rates on certificate of deposit accounts in order to reduce its overall rate paid on

interest-bearing liabilities.

At September 30, 2002, advances from the FHLB totaled $86.3 million, compared to $74.5 million at September 30, 2001. The
Company utilizes its borrowing privileges from the FHLB to fund loan production and as a source of liquid assets for general

operating purposes. See Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a presentation of the terms and maturities of
advances from the FHLB at September 30, 2002.
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Loan Portfolio Analysis

Real estate loans:
One-to four-family residences
Other residential
Home equity and improvement
Nonresidential
Construction loans
Total real estate loans

Other loans:
Consumer Loans
Commercial Loans

Total other loans

Total loans

Less:
Loans in process
Deferred loan fees

Allowance for loan losses

Total loans receivable, net

September 30,
2002 2001 2000,
Amount Percent Amount Amount Percent
(Dollars in Thousands)
$ 61,396 43.07% % 67,169 5560% $ 72,414 68.51 %
. 2,679 1.88 1,635 1.36 960 0.91
10,845 7.61 8,316 6.88 7,032 6.65
17,185 12.06 11,153 9.23 9,580 9.06
8,592 6.02 5,651 4.68 2,860 271
100,697 70.64 93,924 77.75 92,846 87.84
36,386 25.53 20,772 17.19 7,567 7.16
5,459 3.83 6,111 5.06 5,284 5.00
41,845 29.36 26,883 22.25 12,851 12.16
142,542 100.00 % 120,807 10000 % 105,697 100.00 %
4,581 4,165 2,539
22 26 37
756 769 1,057
137,183 115,847 102,064
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Imterest Rate Sensitivity

Interest rate sensitivity is a measure of the extent to which the Company’s net interest income and net portfolio value may be
affected by future changes in market interest rates. Numerous assumptions, primarily future changes in interest rates, changes in
cash flows on assets and liabilities and future product preferences of customers, which are affected by assumptions about future

pricing of products, are required to arrive at the approximation of the net interest income impact.

The Company also monitors interest rate risk by measuring the difference between rate-sensitive assets and rate-sensitive liabilities
that mature or reprice within a given time period, adjusted for the effects of estimated prepayments and early withdrawals on interest

sensitive assets and liabilities.

Certain deficiencies are inherent in the assumptions and methods used to calculate the Company’s level of interest rate sensitivity.
For example, changes in the overall levels of interest rates could affect prepayment and early withdrawal assumptions used in the

calculations. Also, interest rates on certain assets and liabilities may change in advance of or lag behind changes in market rates.

In an attempt to ensure that interest rate risk is maintained within limits established by the Board of Directors, management
presently monitors and evaluates the potential impact of interest rate changes upon the market value of the Association’s equity and
the level of its net interest income on a quarterly basis. Management conducts this analysis with an asset and liability management
simulation model using estimated prepayment rates for various classes of interest sensitive assets and estimated decay rates for
interest-bearing NOW accounts, money market accounts, and savings accounts. The assumptions used may not be indicative of

future withdrawals of deposits or prepayments on loans and mortgage-backed securities.

The following table presents First Federal’s analysis of its net portfolio value and net interest income under various instantaneous
changes in interest rates at September 30, 2002. Changes in interest rates of minus 200 and minus 300 basis points are not currently

indicated due to the fact that it would result in rates at or below zero percent.

Net Portfolio Value Net Interest Income
Change In Amount Percent Net Amount Percent
Interest Rates Estimat Of Of Interest of Of
(basis points) ed NPV Change Change Income Change Change
(Dollars in Thousands)
+300 10,459  (8,696) (454) % 8,231 333 42 %
+200 15,208 (3,947) (20.6) 8,449 551 7.0
+100 17,751 (1,404) (7.3) 8,433 535 6.8
0 19,155 7,898
-100 17,289  (1,866) 9.7) 6,630  (1,268) (16.1)
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The table indicates that First Federal’s estimated net portfolio value is approximately $19.2 million or 8.67% of the market value of
assets at September 30, 2002. Under a scenario of a 200 basis point immediate and permanent increase in interest rates, First
Federal’s estimated net portfolio value would decline by 20.6% to $15.2 million and would still be approximately 7.15% of the

market value of assets.

The table also shows that First Federal’s net interest income, in an unchanged rate scenario, would approximate $7.9 million and

would decline by $1.3 million or 16.1%, under a decrease in the level of interest rates of 100 basis points.
Asset Quality

At September 30, 2002, non-performing assets were $ 1.6 million or .75% of total assets, compared to $1.6 million or .74% of total
assets at September 30, 2001. At September 30, 2002, non-performing assets were comprised of non-accruing one-to four-family
and non-accruing consumer loans, foreclosed one-to four-family loans, and foreclosed consumer and other loans. The increase in
non-accruing consumer and other loans was attributable to the increase in the size of the Company’s portfolio of such loans during

2001 and 2002.

The Company’s allowance for loan losses totaled $757,000 at September 30, 2002, a decrease of $12,000 from $769,000 at
September 30, 2001. At September 30, 2002, the Company’s allowance for loan losses was .55 % of loans receivable, compared to
.66 % at September 30, 2001, and was 60.87% of non-performing loans at September 30, 2002, compared to 58.48% at September
30, 2001. The decrease in the allowance for loan losses was primarily due to the charge-off of indirect auto loans and other

consumer loans.
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The following table presents the amounts and categories of non-performing assets of the Company:

September 30,
2002 2001 2000 1999
{Dollars in Thousands)
Non-accruing loans:
One-to four-family 3 948 § 1,145 % 712§ 768
Consumer and other loans 295 171 0 0
Total 1,243 1,316 712 768
Accruing loans delinquent more than 90 days:
One-to four-family 0 0 0 0
Consumer and other loans 0 0 246 0
Total 0 0 246 0
Foreclosed assets:
One-to four-family 155 197 43 0
Consumer and other loans 239 62 43 0
Total 394 259 86 0
Total non-performing assets $ 1637 $ 1575 § 1,044 § 768
Total as a percentage of total assets 0.75 % 0.74 % 0.52 % 0.50 %
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The following table sets forth an analysis of the Company’s allowance for loan losses:

Year Ended September 30,
2002 2001 2000 1999
(Dollars in Thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 769 $ 1,057 5 270 $ 233
Charge-offs:

One-to four-family (3) (138) 1) 2)

Other loans ‘ (428) (270) (39) , 0

Total charge-offs (431) (408) (40) (2)

Recoveries:

One-to four-family 0 30 10 0

Other loans 54 20 0 39

Total recoveries 54 50 10 39

Net (charge-offs)/recoveries 77 (358) ‘ 30} 37
Additions charged to income 365 70 28 0
Allowance acquired 0 0 789 0
Balance at end of period h) 757 °§ 769 $ 1,057 3 270
Ratio of net charge-offs/recoveries during the

period to Average loans outstanding during

the period (0.29) % (0.33) % 0.04 % 0.06 %
Ratio of net charge-offs/recoveries during the

period to Average non-performing assets

(23.52) % (27.35) % 331 % 7.43 %

Liguidity and Capital Position

The Company’s principal sources of funds are deposits from customers, advances from the FHLB, amortization and prepayments of

loan principal (including mortgage-backed securities), maturities of securities, sales of loans and operations.

The Company uses its liquidity and capital resources principally to meet ongoing commitments to fund maturing certificates of
deposit and loan commitments, maintain liquidity and pay operating expenses. At September 30, 2002, the Company had

outstanding commitments to extend credit on $11.2 million of mortgage loans and $1.4 million of consumer and other loans.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $5.4 million at September 30, 2002 compared to $4.8 million at September 30, 2001. The
primary use of funds during the year was to fund loan originations and purchase securities. The primary sources of funds during the
year were from investment securities that were sold or called by the issuer, payments on mortgage-backed securities and loans, and

borrowings from the FHLB. Management believes that it has adequate resources to fund all of its current commitments.
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At September 30, 2002, the Company held 722,172 shares of treasury stock purchased at an average price of $12.28 per share. The
Company ended the year with 1,162,320 shares outstanding. The closing stock price on that date was $11.41 per share. The high
and low prices for the year were $12.65 and $8.76, respectively.

The Company continued its current dividend policy by declaring and paying four quarterly cash dividends of $.0S5 per share for a
total of $232,000 during the year. Based on the September 30, 2002 closing stock price of $11.41 per share, the annualized

dividend amount of $.20 per share would equal an annual dividend rate of 1.75%.

Total stockholders’ equity equaled $19.3 million at September 30, 2002, an increase of $1.4 million from the $17.9 million reported
at September 30, 2001. The increase in stockholders’ equity was primarily the result of an increase in retained earnings of $1.8
million during fiscal 2002. The increase in retained earnings was the result of the $2.1 million in net income for the year, less
dividends paid. As of September 30, 2002, the Company’s reported book value per share, using a total stockholders’ equity of
$19.3 million (net of unallocated ESOP shares) and 1,162,320 outstanding shares of common stock (the total outstanding shares

including unallocated ESOP shares), equaled $16.59 per share. Tangible book value per share was $14.66 at September 30, 2002.

At September 30, 2002, First Federal's actual and required capital amounts under each of the requirements were as follows:

To Be Well
Capitalized
Under Prompt
For Capital Corrective
Adequacy Action
Purposes Provisions
Amount _Ratio Amaonnt  Ratin Amount __ Ratin
Total risk-based capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 17,154 145% $§ 9438 8.0% $ 11,797 10.0%
Tier 1 capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 16469 140% $ 4,719 4.0% §$ 7,078 6.0%
Tier 1 capital
(to adjusted total assets) 3 16469 77% $ 8616 4.0% $ 10,770 5.0%
Tangible capital
(to adjusted total assets) $ 16469 77% $ 3,231 15%

At September 30, 2002, First Federal met all of the requirements to be considered a “Well Capitalized” institution under the Federal

Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act.
Impact of Inflaticn and Changing Prices

The consolidated financial statements and related data presented herein have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted account principles, which require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical doilars

without considering changes in the relative power of money due to inflation.
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‘Most of the Company’s assets and liabilities are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates have a greater impact on the
Company’s performance than do the effects of general levels of inflation. Interest rates do not necessarily move in the same

direction or at the same magnitude as the prices of goods and services.
Market Price of Common Stock

At September 30, 2002, the common stock of East Texas Financial Services, Inc. traded on the OTC Bulletin Board under the
symbol “ETFS”. On such date, the Company had 1,162,320 shares outstanding and approximately 244 stockholders of record.

The following table sets forth the cash dividends paid per share and the high, low and closing prices for the fiscal periods indicated:

High Low Close Dividends

Fiscat 2002

First Quarter $960 §876 $ 900 $0.05
Second Quarter  $12.65 $ 9.10 $12.02 $0.05
Third Quarter $11.60 $10.77 $11.14 $0.05
Fourth Quarter ~ $11.95 $11.05 $1141 $0.05

High Low Clgse Dividends
Fiscal 2001

First Quarter $ 88 $850 $ 863 3$0.05
Second Quarter § 8.63 § 806 $ 813 $0.05
Third Quarter $10.50 $ 8.00 $10.00 $0.05
Fourth Quarter  $10.00 § 876 § 876  $0.05
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Report of Independent Accountants

Board of Directors and Shareholders
East Texas Financial Services, Inc.
Tyler, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of East Texas
Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary as of September 30, 2002 and 2001, and the related
consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years
ended September 30, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. ‘

We conducted our audits in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary as
of September 30, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of their operations and their
consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2002, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Tyler, Texas
December 6, 2002

29




East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consclidated Statements of Financial Condition
September 30, 2002 and 2001

Assets 2002 2001
Cash and due fromibanks $ 2,561,615 $ 2,013,647
Interest-bearing deposits due from banks 2,883,189 2,824,364
Total cash and cash equivalents 5,444,804 4,838,011

Interest-earning time deposits 300,000 600,000
Federal funds sold 599,698 86,242
Securities available-for-sale 516,443 6,843,583
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $10,134,910 in 2002

and $8,075,494 in 2001) 9,723,716 7,765,537
Mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale 20,144,942 27,352,449
Mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity (fair value

of $30,822,859 in 2002 and $36,585,979 in 2001) 30,591,248 35,879,076
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $756,566 in 2002

and $769,225 in 2001 137,182,965 115,847,396
Accrued interest receivable 1,324,440 1,285,582
Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost 4,588,500 4,323,900
Premises and equipment, net 2,868,435 2,656,988
Foreclose assets, net 394210 259,498
Goodwill, net 2,170,381 2,170,381
Mortgage servicing rights, net ’ 255,269 174,128
Other assets , 1,605,326 1,698,338
Total assets $ 217,710,377 $ 211,781,109

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Liabilities:
Noninterest-bearing $ 3,900,913 $ 3,319,015
Interest-bearing 103,567,616 112,292,026
Total deposits . 107,468,529 115,611,041 .
Advances from Federal Home Loan Bank 86,312,294 74,468,248
Advances from borrowers for taxes and insurance 1,033,717 1,267,900
Federal income taxes
Current 847,781 -0-
Deferred 493,953 670,706
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,271,637 1,849,333
Total liabilities 198,427,911 193,867,228

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 500,000 shares authorized,
none outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 5,500,000 shares authorized,

1,884,492 shares issued and 1,162,320 outstanding 18,845 18,845
Additional paid-in capital 12,525,303 12,473,302
Unearned employee stock ownership plan shares (170,716) (255,597)
Retained earnings (substantially restricted) 16,035,441 14,199,357
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (259,125) 345,256
Treasury stock, at cost, 722,172 shares at September 30, 2002 and 2001 (8,867,282) (8,867,282)
Total stockholders' equity 19,282,466 17,913,881

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 217,710,377 $ 211,781,109

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended September 30, 2002, 2001, and 2000

2002 2001 2000
Interest and dividend income
Loans receivable:
First mortgage loans $ 6,842,353 $ 7,068,061 $ 5,427,273
Consumer and other loans 3,167,997 1,604,175 553,072
Securities available-for-sale 75,756 538,287 867,492
Securities held-to-maturity 618,087 974,882 1,391,122
Mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale 850,775 2,362,454 2,573,225
Mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity 1,719,710 1,299,612 542,105
Deposits with banks 49,279 121,683 65,918
Federal Home Loan Bank dividends 132,344 211,019 241,416
Total interest and dividend income 13,456,301 14,180,173 11,661,623
Interest expense
Deposits 4,053,971 5,907,102 4,415,060
Advances from Federal Home Loan Bank 2,707,964 3,941,063 3,810,799
Total interest expense 6,761,935 9,848,165 8,225,859
Net interest income 6,694,366 4,332,008 ‘ 3,435,764
Provisions for loan losses 365,386 69,685 27,854
Net interest income after provision
for loan losses 6,328,980 4,262,323 3,407,910
Noninterest income
Customer service fee 315,580 274,383 108,306
Net realized gain on sales of
available-for-sale securities 325,503 188,260 -0-
Net gain on sale of loans 309,113 102,159 41,122
Loan origination and commitment fees 140,751 87,565 50,868
Loan servicing fees 28,370 33,893 63,099
Other 222,268 179,638 97,204
Total noninterest income 1,341,585 865,898 360,599
, Noninterest expense
Compensation and benefits 2,717,931 2,302,801 2,114,459
Occupancy and equipment 448,188 438,123 385,762
SAIF deposit insurance premium 19,776 20,883 29,361
Foreclosed assets, net 148,863 (12,033) 3,009
Amortization of goodwill -0- 157,266 41,045
Other 1,183,364 1,081,228 700,976
Total noninterest expense 4,518,122 3,988,268 3,274,612
Income before provision for income taxes 3,152,443 1,139,953 493,897
Income tax expense 1,083,895 440,241 198,110
Net income $ 2,068,548 $ 699,712 3 295,787
Basic earnings per common share 3 1.84 . 8 .63 $ .26
Diluted earnings per common share $ 1.81 3 .63 $ .26

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended September 30, 2002, 2001, and 2000

Net
Deferred Uneamed
Compensation Employee Other
Additional Recognition Stock Accumulated
Common Paid-in Retained Treasury & Retention Ownership Comprehensive
Stock Capital . Eamings Stock Plan Plan Shares Income Total
Balance at September 30, 1999 $ 18,845 $12,397,167 §$13,675,391 § (6,984,857) § (96,985) $ (442,059) 3§ (148,174) $18,419,328
Comprehensive income:
Net income 295,787 T 295,787
Net change in unrealized gain
(loss) on securities
available-for-sale net
of deferred taxes (624,877) (624,877)
Total comprehensive loss (329,090)
Deferred compensation
amortization 96,985 96,985
Release of employee stock
ownership plan shares 96,039 96,039
Appreciation in employee stock
ownership plan shares released 47,205 47,205
Purchase of treasury stock
at cost (171,203 shares) (1,882,425) (1,882,425)
Cash dividends of $0.20 per share (239,069) (239,069)
Balance at September 30, 2000 18,845 12,444,372 13,732,109 (8,867,282) -0- (346,020) (773,051) 16,208,973
Comprehensive income:
Net income 699,712 699,712
Net change in unrealized gain
(loss) on securities
available-for-sale net
of deferred taxes 1,242,559 1,242,559
Reclassification adjustrnent
net of deferred taxes (124,252) (124,252)
Total comprehensive income 1,818,019
Release of enployee stock
ownership plan shares 90,423 90,423
Appreciation in employee stock
ownership plan shares released 28,930 28,930
Cash dividends of $0.20 per share (232,464) (232,464)
Balance at September 30, 2001 18,845 12,473,302 14,199,357 (8,867,282) -0- (255,597) 345,256 17,913,881
Comprehensive income:
Net income 2,068,548 2,068,548
Net change in unrealized gain
(loss) on securities
available-for-sale net
of deferred taxes (61,806) (61,806)
Reclassification adjustment
net of deferred taxes (214,832) (214,832)
Minimum pension liability
adjustment net of tax (327,743) (327,743)
Total comprehensive income 1,464,167
Release of employee stock
ownership plan shares 84,881 84,881
Appreciation in employee 'stock
ownership plan shares released 52,001 52,001
Cash dividends of $0.20 per share (232,464) (232,464)
Balance at September 30, 2002 3 18,845 $12,525303 $16,035441 § (8,867,282) % -0- § (170,716) $ (259,125) §19,282,466

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

32




East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 30, 2002, 2001, and 2000

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Amortization of deferred loan origination fees
Amortization of premiums and discounts on
investment securities, mortgage-backed
securities, and loans
Amortization of deferred compensation
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights
Amortization of goodwill
Compensation charge related to
release of ESOP shares
Depreciation
Provision for loan losses
Deferred income taxes
Stock dividend on FHLB stock
Net (gain) loss on sale of:
Investment securities available-for-sale
Mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale
Loans held for sale
Fixed assets
Foreclosed assets
Proceeds from sale of loans
Originations of loans held for sale
(Increase) decrease in:
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Federal income tax payable

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Net cash used in acquisition activity
Net (increase) decrease in interest-earning time deposits
Net (increase) decrease in fed funds sold
Activity in securities available-for-sale:
Proceeds from sales
Proceeds from maturities and calls
Purchases
Activity in securities held-for-maturity:
Proceeds from maturities and calls
Purchases

Activity in mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale:

Proceeds from sales

Principal payments

Purchases
Activity in mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity:

Principal payments

Purchases
Purchases of FHLB stock
Proceeds from redemption of FHLB stock
Net increase in loans
Proceeds from sale of foreclosed assets
Acquisition costs related to foreclosed assets
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets
Expenditures for premises and equipment
Origination of mortgage servicing rights

Net cash used by investing activities

2002 2001 2000
$ 2,068,548 699,712 $ 295,787
(4,654) (10,832) (4,165)
26,976 (6,771) 43,144
-0- -0- 96,985
97,410 134,300 66,771
-0~ 157,266 41,045
39,674 22,145 46,035
176,599 168,134 154,818
365,386 69,685 27,854
134,595 338,753 128,346
(132,100) (210,800) (241,200)
(325,503) (48,798) -0-
-0- (139,462) -0-
(130,561) (52,413) 5,533
2,269 (2,270) 4,273)
89,226 (20,947) (2,750)
14,431,682 6,569,674 2,948,485
(14,301,121) (6,517,261) (2,954,018)
(38,858) 263,258 GALD
167,012 (722,529) (294,110)
(148,277) (94,066) (659,263)
847,781 -0- -0-
3,366,084 596,778 (310,387)
- 0- (3,421,124)
300,000 489,000 1,372,617
(513,456) 278,580 (364,822)
6,308,899 1,495,125 -0-
45,000 50,000 -0-
-0- -0- (949,445)
-0- 24,500,000 6,000,000
(2,000,000) (6,313,836) (1,468,672)
-0- 8,923,154 -0-
15,640,358 9,166,360 3,819,590
(8,569,474) -0- (6,908,715)
23,001,290 7,316,739 1,514,286
(17,682,398) (38,910,246) -0-
(132,500) -0- (992,500)
-0- 1,900 -0-
(22,277,690) (14,101,255) (12,949,436)
376,133 120,050 37,390
(18,682) (5,388) (4,221)
13,000 8,500 4,500
(403,315) (87,074) (44,895)
(178,551) (49,746) (35,022)
(6,091,386) (7,118,137) (14,390,469)
(continued)
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East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Comnsolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 30, 2002, 2001, and 2000

2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in:
Deposits (8,142,512) $ 13,991,258 (8,825,315)
Advances from borrowers (234,183) (210,538) 107,811
Proceeds from note payable to bank -0- -0- 1,500,000
Principal payments on note payable to bank -0- -0- {(1,500,000)
Proceeds from advances from Federal Home
Loan Bank 721,500,000 779,810,000 707,490,661
Payments of advances from Federal Home
Loan Bank (709,655,954) (784,300,817) (681,837,856)
Purchase of treasury stock at cost -0- -0- (1,882,425)
Dividends paid (232,464) (232,464) (239,069)
ESOP loan repayment 97,208 97,208 57,208
Net cash provided by financing activities 3,332,095 9,154,647 14,911,015
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 606,793 2,633,288 210,159
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,838,011 2,204,723 1,994,564
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,444,804 $ 4,838,011 2,204,723
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for:
Interest on deposits 2,192,970 $ 3,460,611 2,758,226
Interest on FHLB advances and other
borrowed funds 2,746,563 3,909,097 3,762,819
Income taxes 76,140 125,000 104,913
Transfers from loans to real estate and other
assets acquired through foreclosures 1,241,437 581,545 142,516
Loans made to facilitate the sale of foreclosed assets 325,775 212,300 32,500
Transfer of foreclosed assets to fixed assets -0- -0- 11,660
Acquisition activity:
Fair value of noncash assets acquired -0- -0- 33,593,827
Fair value of liabilities assumed -0- -0- 32,527,238

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

East Texas Financial Services, Inc. (the Company) was organized in January 1995 as the holding company for
its wholly-owned subsidiary, First Federal Savings and Loan Association of Tyler (the Association), in
connection with the Association’s conversion from a federally chartered mutual savings and loan association to
a federally chartered stock savings and loan association. On January 10, 1995, the Company completed its initial
public offering and sold 1,215,900 shares at $10 per share to a tax-qualified employee stock ownership plan,
eligible account holders of record, and other members of the Association. The cost of the conversion and stock
offering was accounted for as a reduction of the proceeds from the issuance of common stock of the holding
company. Upon the closing of the stock offering, the holding company purchased all common shares issued by
the Association for $5,750,000. This transaction was accounted for in a manner similar to the pooling of interests
method.

The Association offers customary banking services, including acceptance of checking, saving, and time deposits
and the making of mortgage, commercial, and consumer loans to customers located primarily in Smith and
Upshur Counties in East Texas and surrounding areas. The Association operates under a federal savings and loan
charter and is subject to regulations by the Office of Thrift Supervision.

Principles of consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of East Texas Financial
Services, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, which owns all of the Association’s premises. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consclidation.

Cash and cash equivalents - For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash, deposits due from banks, and interest-bearing deposits due from banks.

Use of estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Securities - Securities that management has both the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified
as securities held-to-maturity and are carried at cost, adjusted for amortization of premium or accretion of
discounts using the interest method. Securities that may be sold prior to maturity for asset/liability management
purposes, or that may be sold in response to changes in interest rates, to changes in prepayment risk, to increase
regulatory capital or to other similar factors, are classified as other similar securities available-for-sale and
carried at fair value with any adjustments to fair value, after tax, reported as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity. Declines in the fair value of individual held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities
below their cost that are other than temporary have resulted in write-downs of the individual securities to their
fair value. The related write-downs are included in earnings as realized losses. Securities purchased for trading
purposes are held in the trading portfolio at fair value, with changes in fair value included in noninterest income.

Interest and dividends on securities, including the amortization of premiums and the accretion of discounts, are
reported in interest and dividends on securities using the interest method. Gains and losses on the sale of
securities are recorded on the trade date and are calculated using the specific-identification method.

Loans held for sale - Mortgage loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary market are carried at the
lower of cost or estimated market value in the aggregate. Net unrealized losses are recognized through a
valuation allowance by charges to income. The Company did not have any loans held for sale on hand at
September 30, 2002, 2001, or 2000.
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East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Notes to Consolidated Fimancial Statememnts

Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Loams - Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or
pay-off generally are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances adjusted for charge-offs; the
allowance for loan losses, and any deferred fees or costs on originated loans or unamortized premiums or
discounts on purchased loans. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Discounts and
premiums are amortized to income using the interest method. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct
origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the yield (interest income) of the related loans.

Loans are generally classified as nonaccrual when there exists reasonable doubt as to the full, timely collection
of interest or principal of the loan (usually when a loan is delinquent for greater than 90 days). Uncollectible
interest on loans that is contractually past due is charged off or an allowance is established based on
management's periodic valuation. The allowance is established by a charge to interest income equal to all interest
previously accrued, and income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received until,
in management's judgment, the borrower's ability to make periodic interest and principal payments is back to
normal, in which case the loan is returned to accrual status.

Allowance for loan losses - The allowance for loan losses is established through charges to operations in the
form of a provision for loan losses. Increases and decreases in the allowance due to changes in the measurement
of the impaired loans are included in the provision for loan losses. Loans continue to be classified as impaired
unless they are brought fully current and the collection of scheduled interest and principal is considered probable.
When a loan is determined to be uncollectible, the portion deemed uncollectible is charged against the allowance
and subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. '

The adequacy of the allowance for loan losses is periodically evaluated by the Company. Such evaluation
includes a review of loans on which full collectibility may not be reasonably assured and considers the estimated
value of the underlying collateral on the loan, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other factors,
which in management’s judgment deserve recognition. The evaluation of the adequacy of loan collateral is often
based upon estimates and appraisals. Because of changing economic conditions, the valuations determined from
such estimates and appraisals may also change. Accordingly, losses may ultimately be incurred in amounts
different from management’s current estimates. Additionally, the Association is subject to regulatory
examinations and may be directed to record loss allowances by regulatory authorities. Adjustments to the
allowance for estimated losses will be reported in the period such adjustments become known or are reasonably
estimable. The Association’s most recent regulatory examination, dated September 23, 2002, did not result in
an increase to the allowance for loan losses.

Federal Home Loan Bank steck - The FHLB stock is a required investment for institutions that are members
of the Federal Home Loan Bank system. The required investment in the common stock is based on a
predetermined formula and is carried at cost.

Premises and equipment - Land is carried at cost. Buildings, furniture, fixtures, and equipment are carried at
cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets on a straight-line basis. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operating expense, and renewals and
betterments are capitalized. Gains or losses on dispositions are reflected currently in the statement of income.

36




East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemnents

Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Foreclosed assets - Assets acquired in settlement of loans are initially recorded at the lower of the outstanding
loan balance or fair value. Fair value is defined as the amount of cash or cash-equivalent value of other
consideration that an asset would yield in a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller - that is, in
other than a forced or liquidation sale. The resulting loss, if any, is charged to the allowance for loan losses.
Subsequent to foreclosure, the asset is carried at the lower of its new cost basis or fair value minus selling costs.
Costs of improvements to property are capitalized. Operating expenses, including depreciation, of such
properties, net of related income, and gains and losses on disposition are included in current operations.
Recognition of gain on sale of an asset is dependent upon the transaction meeting certain criteria relating to the
nature of the property sold and the terms of the sale. Under certain circumstances, the gain, or a portion thereof,
is deferred until the necessary criteria are met.

Goodwill and other inmtangible assets - In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142).
SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill to be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests in
certain circumstances, and written down when impaired, rather than being amortized as previous accounting
standards required. SFAS No. 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001; however, the
Company elected to adopt the accounting standard early and made adoption effective as of October 1, 2001. In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company ceased amortizing goodwill totaling $2,170,381 as of October 1,

2001. Based on the impairment tests performed, there was no impairment of goodwill for the year ended
September 30, 2002,

The following table presents the impact of SFAS No. 142 on net income and earnings per share had the
accounting standard been in effect for 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000

Reported net income $ 2,068,548 $ 699,712 $ 295,787
Add back: goodwill amortization -0- 157,266 41,045
Adjusted net income $ 2,068,548 § 856,978 % 336,832
Basic earnings per share:

Reported net income $ 1.84 63 8 26

Goodwill amortization -0- 14 04

Adjusted earnings per share $ 1.84 3 77 38 30
Diluted earnings per share:

Reported net income $ 181 § 63 8 26

Goodwill amortization ’ -0- 14 04
Adjusted earnings per share $ 181 § 77 % 30

37




East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Summary of Sigaificant Accounting Policies, continued

Meortgage servicing rights - For originated mortgage servicing rights, the Company allocates the net cost of the
mortgage loans to the mortgage servicing rights and the loans (without the mortgage servicing rights) based on
their relative fair values. Fair values are based on quoted market prices in active markets for loans and loan
servicing rights.

Mortgage servicing rights are amortized in proportion to, and over the period of, estimated net servicing income
which approximates the level-yield method. The Company stratifies mortgage servicing rights based on one or
more of the predominant risk characteristics of the underlying loans. The Company periodically evaluates the
carrying value of the mortgage servicing rights in relation to the present value of the estimated future net
servicing revenue based on management’s best estimate of remaining loan lives. Impairment is recognized
through a valuation allowance for an individual stratum, and the amount of impairment is the amount by which
the mortgage servicing rights for a stratum exceed their fair value.

Income taxes - Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using the liability method. Under this method,
the net deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the differences between the book and tax bases of
the various statement of financial condition assets and liabilities and gives current recognition to changes in tax
rates and laws.

Advertising - The Company expenses the costs of advertising the first time the advertising takes place.

Financial instruments - All derivative financial instruments held or issued by the Company are held or issued
for purposes other than trading. In the ordinary course of business, the Company has entered into off-balance-
sheet financial instruments consisting of commitments to extend credit. Such financial instruments are recorded
in the financial statements when they are funded.

Comprehensive income - Comprehensive income represents the sum of net income and items of other
comprehensive income or loss, which are reported directly in shareholders’ equity, net of tax, such as the change
in the net unrealized gain or loss on securities available-for-sale. Accumulated other comprehensive income or
loss, which is a component of shareholders’ equity, represents the net unrealized gain or loss on securities
available-for-sale, net of tax, reciassification adjustments for realized gains or losses on securities available-for-
sale, net of tax and the minimum pension liability, net of tax.

Impact of new accounting standards - In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 143 (SFAS No. 143), Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations. This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. This statement is effective for
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company has adopted this statement and will apply the new
standard as of its fiscal year beginning October 1, 2002. The application of the new standard is not expected to
have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS No 144 establishes a single accounting model, based on the framework
established in SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets
to Be Disposed Of, for long -lived assets to be disposed of by sale, and resolves implementation issues related
to SFAS No. 121. The company has adopted this statement and will apply the standard as of its fiscal year
beginning October 1, 2002. The application of the new standard is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position cr results of operation.
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East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for costs associated with an exit or
disposal activity be recognized and measured initially at fair value only when the liability is incurred. SFAS No.

146 is effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of this
statement is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Reclassifications - Certain amounts previously reported in the financial statements for 2001 and 2000 have been
reclassified to facilitate comparability with 2002. These reclas51ﬁcatlons had no effect on net income or
stockholders’ equity.

Note 2 - Business Combinations

On June 30, 2000, the Company completed its acquisition of Gilmer Financial Services, Inc. (GFSI) and its
wholly owned subsidiary, Gilmer Savings Bank, exchanging $26.10 in cash for each share of GFSI common stock
outstanding. The total cost of the acquisition was approximately $5.4 million. At the date of acquisition, GFSI
had approximately $35.6 million in assets, $22.9 million in deposits, and $3.1 million in shareholders’ equity.
Pursuant to the merger agreement, GFSI was merged into the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, First Federal
Savings and Loan Association of Tyler, Inc. The combined entity now operates as one institution under the name
of First Federal Savings and Loan. The Company utilized short-term advances from the Federal Home Loan
Bank to fund the transaction and accounted for the acquisition under the purchase method of accounting. Under
purchase accounting rules, the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed were adjusted to their estimated fair
value. Goodwill, amounting to $2.4 million, related to this transaction was recorded. The results of operations
of GFSI are reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements only since the date of acquisition.

Note 3 - Investment Securities

The amortized cost and fair values of investment securities available-for-sale are summarized as follows:

Gross . Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

September 30, 2002:

State and municipal securities $ 487,520 $ 28923 §$ 0- 516,443
September 30, 2001:

Corporate debt securities $ 5,983,313 § 299,087 $ 0- 8 6,282,400

State and municipal securities 530,407 , 30,776 , -0- 561,183

$ 6,513,720 § 329,863 $ --0- $ 6,843,583
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East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3 - Investment Securities, continued

The following is a summary of amortized cost and fair value of investment securities available-for-sale at
September 30, 2002, by contractual maturity:

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Due in one year or less $ 139,692  $ 142,172
Due after one year through five years ‘ B 347,828. 374,271
Due after five years through ten years - -0- -0-
Due after ten years -0- -0-

$ 487,520 $ 516,443

For the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale amounted
to $6,308,899 and $1,495,125, respectively. Gross realized gains amounted to $325,503 and $48,798,
respectively. '

There were no sales of investment securities available-for-sale for 2000.

The amortized cost and fair values of investment securities held-to-maturity are summarized as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
September 30, 2002
Corporate debt
securities b 6,237,575 § 388,051 § (51,496) $ 6,574,130
U.S. government :
and agency
obligations 3,486,141 74,639 -C- 3,560,780
$ 9,723,716  § 462,690 $ (51,496) § 10,134,910
September 30, 2001
Corporate debt
securities $ 6,286,200 $ 214,139  §$ 0- 8 6,500,339
U.S. government
and agency
obligations 1,479,337 95,818 -0- 1,575,155
$ 7765537 $ 309957 S 0. $ 8075494
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Note 3 - Investment Securities, continued

The following is a summary of amortized cost and fair value of investment securities held-to-maturity at
September 30, 2002, by contractual maturity:

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Due in one year or less $ 1,000,000 § 1,029,062
Due after one year through five years 6,723,716 7,103,974
Due after five years through ten years 2,000,000 2,001,874
Due after ten years _ -0- -0-

$ 9,723,716  $§ 10,134910

There were no sales of investment securities held-to-maturity for 2002, 2001, and 2000.

Note 4 - Momgage-backed Securities

~ The amortized cost and fair values of mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale are summarized as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

September 30, 2002:

U.S. government
agency pass-through
certificates $ 2,219,074  § 48,392 § 0- § 2,267,466

U.S. government
agency collateralized

mortgage obligations 17,850,824 61,801 (35,149) 17,877,476

$ 20,069,898 % 110,193  § (35,149) § 20,144,942

September 30, 2001:
U.S. government
agency pass-through
certificates 3 1,826,618 § 26365 § 869) § 1,852,114
U.S. government
agency collateralized

mortgage obligations 25,332,579 214,389 (46,633) 25,500,335

$ 27,159,197 % 240,754 $ (47,502) $§ 27,352,449

For the year ended September 30, 2001, proceeds from sales of mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale
amounted to $8,923,154. Gross realized gains amounted to $139,462.

There were no sales of mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale for 2002 and 2000.
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Note 4 - Mortgage-backed Securities, continued

The following is a summary of the amortized cost and fair value of mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale
at September 30, 2002, by contractual maturity. These céritractual maturities do not take inte consideration the
effects of scheduled repayments or the effects of possible prepayments.

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Due in one year or less $ 7058 § 7,084
Due after one year through five years -0- -0-
Due after five years through ten years -0- -0-
Due after ten years 20,062,840 20,137,858

§ 20,069,898 § 20,144,942

The amortized cost and fair values of mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity are summarized as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

September 30, 2002:
U.S. government
agency pass-through
certificates $ 2,272,801 § 61,748  $ 0- § 2,334,549
U.S. government
agency collateralized
mortgage obligation 28,318,447 175,304 (5,441) 28,488,310

$ 30,591,248 8§ 237,052 $ (5,441) § 30,822,859

September 30, 2001:
U.S. government
agency pass-through
certificates $ 3,008,317 § 38252 § (616) § 3,045,953
U.S. government
agency collateralized
mortgage obligation 32,870,759 709,102 (39,83%) 33,540,026

$ 35879,076 $ 747,354 3§ (40,451) § 36,585,979

There were no sales of mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity for 2002, 2001, or 2000.
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Note 4 - Mortgage-backed Securities, continued

The following is a summary of the amortized cost and fair value of mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity
at September 30, 2002, by contractual maturity. These contractual maturities do not take into consideration the
effects of scheduled repayments or the effects of possible prepayments.

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Due in one year or less 0- 8 -0-
Due after one year through five years -0- - -0-
Due after five years through ten years 2,084,020 2,096,923
Due after ten years 28,507,228 28,725,936
30,591,248 § 30,822,859
Note § - Loans Receivable
Loans receivable are summarized as follows:
September 30
2002 2001
Real estate loans:
One-to-four family residences 61,396,287 $ 67,169,463
Other residential 2,679,327 1,635,489
Home equity and improvement 10,844,746 8,316,209
Nonresidential 17,185,087 11,153,159
Construction loans 8,591,756 5,650,550
Total real estate loans 160,697,203 03,924 870
Other loans:
Consumer loans 36,386,544 20,771,438
Commercial loans 5,458,596 6,111,255
Total other loans 41,845,140 26,882,693
Total loans 142,542,343 120,807,563
Less:
Allowance for loan losses 756,566 769,225
Unadvanced loan funds 4,581,112 4,164,569
Deferred loan fees 21,700 26,373
Total loans receivable, net 137,182,965 $ 115,847,396
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Note § - Loans Recelvable, continued

A summary of the changes in the allowance for loan losses is as follows (charge-offs include transfers to
allowance for losses on real estate acquired in settlement of loans):

2002 2001 2000
Balance at beginning of year $ 769,225 § 1,057,374  § 270,039
Provision charged to income 365,386 69,685 27,854
Loans charged off (432,536) (408,392) (39,833)
Recoveries 54,491 50,558 10,518
Allowance acquired -0- -0- 788,796
Balance at end of year $ 756,566 % 769,225 § 1,057,374

The following is a summary of information pertaining to loans which were considered impaired as defined by
SFAS No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, and as amended by SFAS No. 118,
Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan - Income Recognition and Disclosure.

September 30
2002 2001
Impaired loans without a valuation allowance $ -0- § -0-
Impaired loans with a valuation allowance 340,968 415,461
Total impaired loans $ 340,968 § 415,461
Valuation allowance related to impaired loans h) 169,430 § 278,524
Average investment in impaired loans $ 397,692 $ 436,109

Interest income on impaired loans of $17,193 and $44,113 was recognized for cash payments received in 2002
and 2001 respectively. There was no interest income on impaired loans in 2000.

At September 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had discontinued the accrual of interest on nonperforming loans

aggregating approximately $1,242,919 and $1,315,444, respectively. The Company has no commitments to lend
additional funds to debtors whose loans are nonperforming.
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Note S - Loans Receivabie, continued

Directors and executive officers were indebted to the Company in the aggregate amount of $790,822 and
$631,832 as of September 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In the opinion of management, these loans were
substantially on the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for
comparable transactions with other customers and did not involve more than a normal risk of collectibility or
present any other unfavorable features to the Company. A summary of the activity of loans to directors and
executive officers is as follows:

2002 2001
Balance, beginning of year $ 631,832 § 583,867
New loans 317,000 250,699
Repayment (158,010) (202,734)
Balance, end of year $ 790,822 $ 631,832

Note 6 - Loan Servicing

The principal balances of loans serviced for investors are not included in the consolidated statement of financial
condition. Information related to mortgage loans serviced for investors is summarized as follows:

September 30,

2002 2001
Principal balance $ 45,639,325 § 46,271,553
Custodial escrow balance 762,178 1,002,428
The following is an analysis of the changes in loan servicing rights capitalized:

2002 2001
Balance, beginning of year $ 174,128  § 258,682
Addition 178,551 49,746
Amortization (97,410) (134,300)
Balance, end of year $ 255269 § 174,128
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Note 7 - Accrued Interest Receivable

Accrued interest receivable 1s summarized as follows:

2002 2001
Investment securities $ 179,323  § 200,660
Mortgage-backed securities 198,187 279,709
Loans receivable 1,001,960 859,216
Allowance for uncollectible interest (55,030) (54,003)

$ 1,324,440 S 1,285,582

Note 8 - Foreclosed Assets

The Company has acquired various assets through loan foreclosures. At September 30, 2002 and 2001, the
properties are summarized as follows:

2002 2001
Residential real estate _ $ 155,023 § 197,285
Personal property ' 239,187 62,213

$ 394,210 9§ 259,498

There was no activity in the allowance for losses on foreclosed assets during 2002, 2001, and 2000.

Expenses applicable to foreclosed assets for the years ended September 30, 2002,2001, and 2000, are as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Net (gain) loss on sales of foreclosed assets $ 89,227 § (30,382) §$ (2,750)
Provision for losses -0- -0- -C-
Operating expenses 59,636 18,349 5,759
$ 148,863  §$ (12,633) § 3,009
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Note 9 - Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are summarized as follows:

2002 2001
Land ‘ $ 1,591,266 § 1,591,266
Buildings and premises 1,524,727 1,293,041
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 850,702 775,234
Autos 95,742 84,745
4,062,437 3,744,286
Less accumulated depreciation 1,194,002 1,087,298
$ 2,868,435 $ 2,656,988

Certain premises and equipment are leased under operating leases. Rental expense was $72,416 in 2002, $70,240 in

2001, and $69,434 in 2000.

As of September 30, 2002, there were no future minimum rental commitments under noncancellable leases.

Note 10 - Other Assets

Other assets are summarized below:

2002 2001

Funds due on loans sold $ 1,142478 % 964,155
Principal receivable on mortgage-backed securities 13,354 85,262
Pension plan intangible asset 74,000 -0-
Prepaid federal income tax -0- 38,511
Prepaid expenses 207,489 383,972
QOutstanding drafis 163,368 213,115
Other . 4,637 13,323

3 1,605,326  § 1,698,338

Note 11 - Deposits

The aggregate amount of accounts with a minimum denomination of $100,000 was approximately $34,416,251

$37,383,221 at September 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
At September 30, 2002, scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit are as follows:

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
Thereafter
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9,769,984
3,021,181
2,962,705
6,502,042

12,821

$ 82,369,901
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Note 13 - Pension Plan

The Company has a qualified, noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all of its
employees. Benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s highest average rate of eamings for the
five consecutive years during the last ten full years before retirement. The benefits are reduced by a specified
percentage of the employee’s social security benefits. An employee becomes fully vested upon completion of

five years of qualifying service. It is the policy of the Company to fund the maximum amount that can be
deducted for federal income tax purposes.

The following table sets forth the plan's funded status and amounts recognized in the Company's statements of
financial condition at September 30:

2002 2001 2000
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 3,310,301  § 2,815,090 § 2,571,790
Service cost 259,522 215,841 164,269
Interest cost 247287 212,386 187,622
Amendments 2,014 -0- -0-
Actuarial (gain) loss 367,193 174,226 (32,113)
Benefits paid (102,641) (107,092) {76,283)
Expenses paid (150) (150) (195)
Benefit obligation at end of year 4,083,526 3,310,301 2,815,090
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 2,885,334 3,181,481 2,655,522
Actual return on plan assets (141,492) (364,114) 362,074
Employer contribution 103,825 175,209 240,363
Benefits paid (102,641) (107,092) (76,283)
Expenses paid (150) (150) . (195)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 2,744,876 2,885,334 3,181,481
Funded status (1,338,650) (424,967) 366,391
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,597,852 846,165 45,158
Unrecognized prior service cost 74,000 79,345 86,704
Unrecognized net transition obligation (asset) (219,570) (252,550} (285,530)
Net amount recognized $ 113,632  § 247,993 § 212,723

Amounts recognized in the statement
of financial position consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 113,632  § 247,993 § 212,723
Accrued benefit liability (570,581) -0- -0-
Intangible asset 74,000 -0- -0-
Accumulated other comprehensive income 327,743 -0- -0-
Deferred tax asset 168,838 -0- -0-
Net amount recognized $ 113,632 % 247993 $ 212,723
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Note 13 - Pension Plan, continued

A summary of the components of income follows:

2002 2001 2000
Service cost-benefits earned during the year $ 259,522 % 215,841 $ 164,269
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 247287 212,386 187,622
Return on plan assets (262,041) (262,667) (224,700)
Net asset gain recognition 19,039 -0- -0-
Amortization of unrecognized net asset (32,980} (32,980) (32,980)
Amortization of prior service cost 7,359 7,359 7,359
Net periodic pension cost $ 238,186 % 139,939  § 101,570
Assumptions used in the accounting for the pension plan were as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Weighted average discount rate 7.25% 7.50% 7.50%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%

Effective for the plan year ended September 30, 2002, the actuarial value of assets was changed from an annual
method to a five year smoothing method. This change was made to more closely reflect the Company’s future
long-term expectations and to reduce fluctuations in the net periodic pension cost and minimumrequired funding
of the plan. The effect of this change on net income for the current year was an increase of approximately

$35,000.

The Company contributed $103,825, $175,209, and $240,363 to the plan in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Note 14 - Income Taxes

The Company and the Association file a consolidated federal income tax return. The consolidated provision for

income taxes for 2002, 2001, and 2000 consists of the following:

2002 2001 2000

Current $ 949300 $ 101,488 §$ 69,764

Deferred 134,595 338,753 128,346
$  1,083895 § 440241 $ 198,110
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Total income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of
34 percent to income before income taxes as a result of the following:

2002 2001 2000
Expected income tax expense at
statutory tax rate of 34% $ 1,071,831 § 387,584 % 167,925
Goodwill amortization -0- 53,470 13,955
Other 12,064 (813) 16,230
$ 1,083,895 § 440,241 § 198,110
Effective tax rate 34% 39% 40%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the statement of financial condition at September 30 consist of the

following:
2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Minimum pension liability $ 168,838 § -0-
Deferred compensation 16,344 20,533
Net operating loss carryover -0- 22,988
Investment securities available-for-sale 3,325 11,252
Other 6,990 8,336
195,497 63,109
Deferred tax liabilities:
Net unrealized gain on market value adjustment
to mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale (35,348) (177,859)
FHLB stock (288,958) (244,044)
Allowance for loan losses (61,898) (57,595)
Mortgage servicing rights (86,792) (59,204)
Depreciable assets (66,019) (75,495)
Pension liability (150,435) (119,618)
(689,450) (733,815)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (493,953) § (670,706)

As part of the acquisition of GFSI, the Company acquired a net operating loss carryforward of approximately
$436,000. Of this amount, approximately $368,400 was utilized in prior years and the remaining $67,600 was
utilized in the current year.

No valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was recorded as of September 30, 2002 and 2001, as management
believes that the amounts representing future deferred tax benefits will more likely than not be recognized since
the Company is expected to have sufficient taxable income of an appropriate character within the carryback and
carryforward period as permitted by the tax law to allow for utilization of the future deductible amounts.

51




East Texas Financial Services, Inc. and Subsidiary

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 14 - Income Taxes, continued

Retained earingsincludes approximately $2,392,722 at September 30, 2002 and 2001, for which no deferred federal
income tax liability has been recognized. This amount represents an allocation of income to bad debt deductions
for tax purposes only. Reduction of amounts so allocated for purposes other than tax bad debt losses or adjustments
arising from carryback of net operating losses would create income for tax purposes only, which would be subject
to the then current corporate income tax rate. The unrecorded deferred income tax liability on the above amount was
approximately $813,525 at September 30, 2002 and 2001.

Note 15 - Stock Option and Incentive Plan

The 1995 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "Stock Option Plan") provides for awards in the form of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, limited stock appreciation rights, and restricted stock.

Options to purchase shares of common stock of the Company may be granted to selected directors, officers, and key
employees. The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the stock option plan was equal to
182,278 or 10% of the total number of common shares issued pursuant to the conversion. The option exercise price
cannot be less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock as of the date of the option grant, and the
maximum option term cannot exceed ten years. Awards vest at a rate of 20% per year beginning at the date of the
grant. The Company plans to use treasury stock for the exercise of options. The following is a summary of changes
in options outstanding: .

Options outstanding

Balance, September 30, 2000 151,776
Granted -0-
Exercised at $9.42 per share -0-
Forfeited and expired -0-

Balance, September 30, 2001 151,776
Granted -0-
Exercised at $9.42 per share -0-
Forfeited and expired -0-

Balance, September 30, 2002 151,776

Options exercisable at year end under stock option plan 150,277
Shares available for future grants 22,662
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Note 15 - Stock Option and Incentive Plan, continued

Stock appreciation rights (SARs) may be granted under the Option and Incentive Plan giving the participant the right
to receive the excess of the market value of the shares on the date exercised over the exercise price. Upon exercise,
the participant will receive either cash or shares as determined by the Company. Limited SARs may be granted
which are exercisable only for a limited period of time in the event of a tender or exchange offer for shares of holding
company stock. Payment upon exercise of a limited SAR shall be in cash. No SARs or limited SARs have been
granted.

Restricted stock may also be granted under the Option and Incentive Plan, subject to forfeiture if the participant fails
to remain in the continuous service of the Company. The time period for such restriction may be removed or
accelerated at the Company's discretion,

Note 16 - Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP)

In conjunction with the stock conversion, the Company established an ESOP for eligible employees. Employees with
at least one year of employment and who have attained the age of twenty-one are eligible to participate. The ESOP
borrowed funds in the amount of $972,080 from the Company to purchase 145,823 common shares issued in the
conversion. Collateral for the loan is the common stock purchased by the ESOP. The ESOP loan is payable in
quarterly principal payments of $24,302 over a ten-year period plus interest at an annual rate of 7.93%. In
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the unpaid balance of the ESOP loan on the Association's
books and the related receivable on the holding company’s books have been eliminated in the consolidated statement
of financial condition. The cost of shares not committed to be released and unallocated shares is reported as a
reduction of stockholders' equity. Shares are released to participants’ accounts under the shares allocated method.

The Company intends to make annual contributions to the ESOP in an amount to be determined annually by the
Board of Directors, but not less than the amount required to pay any currently maturing obligations under loans made
to the ESOP. The Company will not make contributions if such contributions would cause the Company to violate
its regulatory capital requirements.

Company contributions to the ESOP and shares released from the suspense account in an amount proportional to
the repayment of the ESOP loan will be allocated among ESOP participants on the basis of compensation in the year
of allocation. Benefits generally become 100% vested after five years of credited service. Prior to the completion
of five years of credited service, a participant who terminates employment for reasons other than death, retirement
(or normal retirement), or disability will not receive any benefit under the ESOP. Forfeitures will be reallocated
among the remaining participating employees in the same proportion as contributions. Benefits may be payable in
the form of stock or cash upon termination of employment.

ESOP compensation expense for the years ended September 30, 2002,2001, and 2000, totaled $136,881,$119,353,
and $143,244, respectively. The fair value of unearned ESOP shares at September 30, 2002 and 2001, totaled
$291,799 and $335,867, respectively. Following is a summary of ESOP shares at September 30:

2002 2001
Shares allocated 107,551 100,518
Shares committed to be released -0- -0-
Uneamed 25,574 38,341

Total 133,125 138,859
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Note 17 - Recognition and Retention (RRP)

On July 26, 1995, the stockholders approved the Company's formation of a RRP which was authorized to award 4%,
or 72,912 shares (48,608 shares prior to stock split), of the total shares of common stock issued in the conversion.
On July 26, 1995, the RRP awarded 61,796 shares (41,197 shares prior to stock split) of common stock to directors
and employees in key management positions in order to provide them with a proprietary interest in the Company in
a manner designed to encourage such employees to remain with the Company.

Unearned compensation of $581,908, representing the shares' fair market value of $14.125 per share at the date of
award, has been charged to income on a straight-line basis over the five-year vesting period as the Company's
directors and employees performed the related services. The Company recognized $96,985 as compensation and
benefits expense relating to this plan for the year ended September 30, 2000, which was the final year of the five year
plan.

Note 18 - Earnings per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share are computed by dividing earnings available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted retroactively for a 3 for 2 stock
split in the form of a stock dividend, which was authorized by the Board of Directors on February 18, 1998, to
shareholders of record as of March 11, 1998. Diluted earnings per share reflect per share amounts that would result
if dilutive potential common stock had been converted to common stock. The following reconciles amounts
reported in the financial statements:

2002 2001 2000
Income Shares  Per-Share income Shares  Per-Share Income Shares  Per-Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Income from
continuing
operations $2,068,548 $ 699,712 $ 295,787

Less preferred
stock dividends ~0- -0- -0-

Income available
to common
stockholders -
basic earnings

per share 2,068,548 1,124961 § 1.84 699,712 1,111,459 $ 0.63 295,787 1,117,441 § 0.26
Effect of dilutive

securities:
Options -0- 19,163 -0- 153 -0- 7,763

Income available
to common
stockholders -
diluted earnings
per share $2,068,548 1,144,124 § 181 § 699,712 1,111,612 $ 0.63 § 295787 1,125204 § 026
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Note 19 - Subsequent Event

At the October 16, 2002, directors’ meeting, a cash dividend of $0.05 was declared. This dividend is to holders of
record on November 6, 2002, and payable on November 20, 2002.

Note 20 - Significant Group Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company invests a portion of its cash in deposit accounts with various financial institutions in amounts which
may exceed the insured amount of $100,000. The Company has not experienced any losses on these investments
which typically are payable on demand. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of the financial institutions
in which it invests deposits and periodically assesses its credit risk with respect to these accounts.

At September 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had $2,883,189 and $2,824,364, respectively, on deposit with the
Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas, and $2,073,054 and $1,181,117, respectively, on deposit with Bank of
America. The Company also had investments exceeding insured amounts in certificates of deposit at other financial
institutions. Those certificates of deposit totaled $200,000 and $500,000 at September 30, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

Note 21 - Financial Instruments

The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to
meet the financial needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and
involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk and interest-rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in
the consolidated statements of financial condition.

The exposure to credit loss, in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instruments for
commitments tc extend credit, is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Company uses
the same credit policies in making commitments and condition obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet
instruments.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any
condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination
clauses and may require payment of a fee. The Company evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-
by-case basis. The amount and nature of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Company upon
extension of credit, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the counter party. Such collateral includes
primary real estate.

The Company has not been required to perform on any financial guarantee during the past two years. The
Company has not incurred any losses on its commitments in either 2002 or 2001.
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Naote 21 - Financial Instruments, continued

The Association had outstanding commitments to originate loans as follows:

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Fixed Variable Fixed Variable
Rate Rate Total Rate Rate Total
First mortgage $ 9,999,855 §$ 1,229,746 $11,229,601 $ 6,030,006 $ 1,486,200 $ 7,516,206
Consumer and
other loans 1,440,868 -0- 1,440,868 246,199 -0- 246,199

$11,440,723 § 1,229,746 §12,670,469 $ 6,276,205 § 1,486,200 $ 7,762,405

Note 22 - Legal Contingencies

Various legal claims arise from time to time in the normal course of business which, in the opinion of
management, will have no material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 23 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments; however,
there are inherent weaknesses in any estimation technique. Therefore, for substantially all financial instruments,
the fair value estimates herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could have realized in
a sales transaction on the dates indicated. The estimated fair value amounts have been measured as of their
respective year ends and have not been reevaluated or updated for purposes of these consolidated financial
statements subsequent tc those respective dates. As such, the estimated fair values of these financial instruments
subsequent to the respective reporting dates may be different than the amounts reported at each year end.

The following information should not be interpreted as an estimate of the fair value of the entire Company since
a fair value calculation is only provided for a limited portion of the Company’s assets. Due to a wide range of
valuation techniques and the degree of subjectivity used in making the estimates, comparisons between the
Company’s disclosures and those of other companies may not be meaningful. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at September 30, 2002
and 2001:

Cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value.

Interest-earning time deposits. Fair values for time deposits are estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis
that applies interest rates currently being offered on certificates.

Federal Funds Sold. The carrying amounts of federal funds scld approximate their fair value.

Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities. Fair values for securities, excluding restricted equity
securities, are based on available quoted market prices. If quoted market prices are unavailable, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments. Available-for-sale securities are carried at their
aggregate fair value.
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Loans receivable. Fair values for loans receivable are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, utilizing
interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality.

Federal Home Loan Bank stock. The fair value of stock in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas is estimated
to be equal to its carrying amount, since it is not a publicly traded equity security, has an adjustable dividend rate,
and transactions in the stock have been executed at the stated par value.

Deposit liabilities. The fair values disclosed for demand deposits are, by definition, equal to the amount payable
on demand at the reporting date (that is, their carrying amounts). The carrying amounts of variable-rate, fixed-
term money market accounts and certificates of deposit (CDS) approximate their fair values at the reporting date.
Fair values for fixed-rate CDS are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates
currently being offered on certificates to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly maturities on time deposits.

Borrowings. The estimated fair value of the FHLB advance is based upon the discounted value of the difference
between contractual rates and current market rates for similar agreements.

Advance from borrowers for taxes and insurance. The carrying amount of escrow accounts approximate fair
value.

Accrued interest. The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate their fair values.

Off-balance-sheet instruments. Commitments to extend credit were evaluated and fair value was estimated using
the fees currently charged tc enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the
agreements and the present creditworthiness of the counter parties. For fixed-rate loan commitments, fair value
also considers the difference between current levels of interest rates and the committed rates.

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments were as follows at:

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
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Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,444,804  $5,444804  § 4,838,011 $ 4,838,011
Interest-earning time deposits 300,000 301,000 600,000 612,000
Federal funds sold 599,698 599,698 86,242 86,242
Securities available-for-sale 516,443 516,443 6,843,583 6,843,583
Securities held-to-maturity 9,723,716 10,134,910 7,765,537 8,075,494
Mortgage-backed securities
available-for-sale 20,144,942 20,144,942 27,352,449 27,352,449
Mortgage-backed securities
held-to-maturity 30,591,248 30,822,859 35,879,076 36,585,979
Loans receivable, net 137,182,965 141,897,000 115,847,396 118,883,000
Accrued interest receivable 1,324,440 1,324,440 1,285,582 1,285,582
Federal Home Loan Bank stock 4,588,500 4,588,500 4,323,900 4,323,900
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Note 23 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments, continued

. September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Financial liabilities: »
Deposit liabilities $ 107,468,529 $ 107,964,000 $115,611,041 $ 115,074,000
Advances from Federal Home
Loan Bank 86,312,294 89,439,234 74,468,248 75,874,748
Advances from borrowers for
taxes and insurance 1,033,717 1,033,717 1,267,900 1,267,900

The carrying amounts in the preceding table are included in the statement of financial condition under the
applicable captions. The contract or notional amounts of the Company’s financial instruments with off-balance-
sheet risk are disclosed in Note 21.

Note 24 - Regulatory Matters

The Association is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking
agencies., Failure tc meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possible additional
discretionary, actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Association and
the consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for
prompt corrective action, the Association must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures
of the Association’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory
accounting practices. The Association’s capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative
judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Asscciation to maintain
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of total risk-based capital and Tier 1 capital to risk-
weighted assets (as defined in the regulations), Tier 1 capital to adjusted total assets (as defined), and tangible
capital to adjusted total assets (as defined). Managementbelieves, as of September 30, 2002, that the Association
meets all capital adequacy requirements tc which it is subject.

As of September 30, 2002, the most recent notification from the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS) categorized
the Association as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be
categorized as well capitalized, the Association must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, Tier
1 leverage, and tangible capital ratios as set forth in the table. There are no conditions or events since that
notification that management believes have changed the institution’s category.
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The following is a summary of actual capital amounts and ratios as of September 30, 2002 and 2001, for the
Association, compared to the requirements for minimum capital adequacy and for classification as well-
capitalized. Although the Office of Thrift Supervision does not impose minimum capital requirements on thrift
holding companies, the Association’s consolidated regulatory capital amounts and ratios as of September 30,
2002 and 2001, are also presented.

To Be Well
Capitalized Under
For Capital Prompt Corrective
Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)
As of September 30, 2002:
Total risk-based capital
(to risk-weighted assets)
Consolidated $ 17,655 15.0% N/A N/A N/A N/A
. First Federal Savings $ 17,154 145% $ 9438 80% § 11,797 10.0%

Tier 1 capital
(to risk-weighted assets)
Consolidated $ 16,969 14.4% N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Federal Savings $ 16,469 140% § 4,719 40% § 7,078 6.0%
Tier 1 capital
(to adjusted total assets)

Consolidated $ 16,969 7.9% N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Federal Savings § 16,469 7.7%  $ 8,616 40% $ 10,770 5.0%
Tangible capital
(to adjusted total assets)
Consolidated $ 16,969 7.9% N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Federal Savings $ 16,469 77% § 3,231 1.5% N/A N/A
As of September 30, 2001:
Total risk-based capital
(to risk-weighted assets)
Consolidated $ 16,060 15.0% N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Federal Savings S 15,487 144% $ 8,558 80% § 10,697 10.0%
Tier 1 capital
(to risk-weighted assets)
Consolidated $ 15,398 14.4% N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Federal Savings § 14,880 139% $§ 4279 40% $ 6418 6.0%

Tier 1 capital
(to adjusted total assets)

Consolidated $ 15,398 7.4% N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Federal Savings $ 14,880 71% $ 8,365 4.0% $ 10,456 5.0%
Tangible capital
(to adjusted total assets) ‘
Consolidated $ 15,398 7.4% N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Federal Savings $ 14,880 71% § 3,137 1.5% N/A N/A
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In conjunction with its latest safety and soundless regulatory examination of September 23, 2002, the OTS, in
a letter dated December 6, 2002, has notified the Association that it has been assigned a Troubled Condition
Designation. As a result of this designation, the Association has been given thirty days from notification to
submit an acceptable Safety and Soundness Compliance Plan that will specify what steps will be taken to correct
deficiencies in the following areas:

(1) Internal Controls - Directorate Composition
(2) Interest Rate Risk Management

(3) Internal Audit

{4) Information Technology

After submission of an acceptable Compliance Plan, the Association will be required to submit, on a quarterly
basis, a resolution adopted by its Board of Directors that attests to adherence to the plan or lists specific
deviations from the plan,

Additionally, the Association is currently restricted from increasing assets in an amount exceeding net interest
credited on deposit liabilities, during any calendar quarter, without prior written approval from the OTS Regional
Director. The Association is also prohibited from purchasing any securities without the OTS’s written
nonobjection.

Note 25 - Stockholders’ Equity

Federal regulations require that, upon conversion from a mutual to stock form of ownership, a "liquidation
account" be established by restricting a portion of retained earnings for the benefit of eligible savings account
holders who maintain their savings accounts with the Association after conversion. In the event of complete
liquidation (and only in such event), each savings account holder who continues to maintain his savings account
shall be entitled to receive a distribution from the liquidation account after payment to all creditors, but before
any liquidation distribution with respect to capital stock. This account will be proportionately reduced for any
subsequent reduction in the eligible holders' savings accounts.

Federal regulations impose limitations on the payment of dividends and other capital distributions, including,
among others, that the Association may not declare or pay a cash dividend on any of its stock if the effect thereof
would cause the Association's capital to be reduced below the amount required for the liquidation account or the
capital requirements imposed by the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act (FIRREA)
and the OTS.

Note 26 - Compensated Absences
Employees of the Company are entitled to paid vacation after one year of employment. The vacation time does

not vest; therefore, no accrual for vacation was recorded due to the immateriality. Sick leave is not accrued
because it does not vest. The costs of these compensated absences are recognized when paid.
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Note 27 - Interest and Dividends on Investment Securities

Interest income received from investment securities available-for-sale includes $28,058, $30,853, and $8,216,
of nontaxable interest for the years ended September 30, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Note 28 - Other Noninterest Income and Expense

Other noninterest income and expense amounts are summarized as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Other noninterest income:
Loan late charges $ 127,092 § 96,960 S 42,033
Other 95,176 82,678 ‘ 55,171
$ 222,268 % 179,638  $ 97,204
Other noninterest expense:
Advertising and promotion $ 15877 § 34531 % 37,648
Data processing 237,605 223,333 171,424
Professional fees 206,636 140,965 93,308
Supervisory examination 56,501 51,775 42,141
Printing, postage, stationery, and supplies 163,126 141,813 104,306
Telephone 34,351 33,204 28,734
Insurance and bond premiums 62,639 57,781 44,933
Loan servicing expenses 138,168 80,397 46,606
Franchise taxes 43,519 47,697 (24,858)
Other 224942 269,732 156,734

$ 1,183,364  § 1,081,228  § 700,976

Note 29 - Condensed Parent Company Only Financial Statements

The following condensed statements of financial condition as of September 30, 2002 and 2001, and related
condensed statements of income and statements of cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001,
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes.

2002 2001
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
Assets:
Cash $ 168,967 $ 152,148
Note receivable - ESOP Trust 218,718 315,926
Investment in the Association 18,782,161 17,395,323
Receivable from subsidiary 122,985 60,471
Prepaid expenses 12,000 15,000
Other assets 2,500 2,500
Total assets $ 19,307,331 $ 17,941,368
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Liabilities:
QOther liabilities

Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Treasury stock
Unearned ESOP shares
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

STATEMENT OF INCOME
Income:

Equity in earnings of Association
Interest income

Total income

Expenses:
Management expenses paid to subsidiary
Franchise tax expense
Professional fees
Other

Total expenses
Income before federal income taxes

Federal income taxes (benefit)

Net income
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2002 2001

$ 24,865 $ 27,487
18,845 18,845
12,525,303 12,473,302
16,035,441 14,199,357
(8,867,282) (8,867,282)
(170,716) (255,597)
(259,125) 345,256 -
19,282,466 17,913,881
$ 19,307,331 $ 17,941,368
$ 2206339 § 843,785
22,467 30,283
2,228,806 874,068
130,500 130,500
30,048 30,048
48,458 56,902
22,235 29,403
231,241 246,853
1,997,565 627,215
(70,983) (72,497)

$ 2,068,548 $ 699,712
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2002 2001
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 2,068,548 § 699,712
Equity in earnings of the Association, net of dividends (1,906,338) (843,785)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 3,000 (15,000)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (2,622) (80,765)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 162,588 (239,838)
Cash flows from investing activities:
ESOP loan repayment 97,208 97,208
{Increase) decrease in receivable from subsidiary (62,514) (32,537)
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 34,694 64,671
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 52,001 28,930
Dividends paid (232,464) (232,464)
Net cash used by financing activities (180,463) (203,534)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16,819 (378,701)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 152,148 530,849
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 168,967 § 152,148
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Receivable from subsidiary for ESOP shares issued $ 52,001 § 28,930
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